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HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2, POLICY AND PROGRESS (Resumed)


Alexander (Sandy) Struthers, Previously Sworn


Greg Van Dusen, Previously Sworn

Preliminary Matters:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today is the fourth day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate EB-2009-0096.  Today we will continue with the examination of panel 2 dealing with policy and strategy and other matters, and we will also have the examination of School Energy's witness.  Some portion of the examination of panel 2 will be in camera today.

Are there -- as a preliminary matter, I would like to discuss confidentiality of the new documents that were sent last night.  Are there any other preliminary matters before we get to that?

No?

All right.  I have two questions, and, Mr. Rogers, I will turn it over to you in a moment.  I have two questions, one for Mr. Rogers and one for everyone else, and that is:  The document that was circulated last night and those of you who have signed the undertaking have seen it, whether or not, having seen it, you believe that you need to cross-examine on it in any detail that would require it being in camera?

And then the question for Hydro One - and I will ask Mr. Rogers to talk about that first - is whether or not -- or Hydro One to explain why the document is confidential to us.  So I will turn it over to you first, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are two documents that we have circulated.  The first I think was handed out at the end of the day yesterday, and that is the document that's entitled "Hydro One Investment Plan Proposal", the 29- or 30-page document.  This document is considered to be confidential for reasons I will explain in a moment.

The second document that was circulated last evening is a document entitled "Risk Instructions".  And neither of these have been marked as exhibits yet, but this document is not confidential.

My proposal this morning -- I will come to the confidentiality in a moment, but my proposal this morning was to ask Mr. Van Dusen to use the document not considered confidential to try and walk us through this process so that we can all understand in a little more detail how it works, and he tells me that he thinks he can do that without getting into this other document.

Now, second document, on which confidentiality is claimed, and I may ask the witness to enlarge on this, but it is my understanding, Madam Chair, that this is a process document which is developed in-house, within Hydro One, using their own resources, and they consider it to have real proprietary value.

I am told it is unique to Hydro One.  It was developed by them for their own use, and it is considered to be quite sophisticated, I am told, to the point where there have been overtures about trying to purchase it from Hydro One.

Furthermore, I understand that a consultant, UMS, who is a company in this business, came to make a presentation to Hydro One with a similar process that they wanted to sell to Hydro One, which Hydro One considered to be inferior to their own processes.

So it is really a commercial value argument that Hydro One considers this to be proprietary, and that's why they asked that it be dealt with in confidence.

MS. NOWINA:  I would like to understand that a little more, Mr. Rogers.  I am sure that it is a very good piece of work.  I am not clear on why Hydro One is concerned about the proprietorship of that.  Are they thinking about commercializing it?

I am just not certain why that's an issue.  Hydro One in the past has been very good about sharing all of their intelligence with other utilities, for example, and we have all -- and the industry has benefitted from that greatly.  So I am not -- I am not quite understanding why this particular methodology is a concern for Hydro One.

MR. ROGERS:  Could I ask the witness to help you?

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.

MR. ROGERS:  Because I must confess I don't see the magic in, either, but I don't understand it.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  I will ask Mr. Van Dusen.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's let Hydro One speak for itself.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Evidence-in-Chief by Mr. Van Dusen:


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The tool that has been developed and used by Hydro One, the risk-based tool that we use for the prioritization that we've discussed in detail, is a tool now which is marketed by not only UMS, but other consulting houses, to utilities to use.

A risk-based approach to planning is considered best practice.  It is utilized very widely across many utilities in North America and I suspect in Europe, although I am more familiar with the North American context.

We have obviously tailor designed our tool to suit our needs and have built in what we think are fairly -- fairly important risk concepts into our model that we feel are quite commercially sensitive to the company, in that they deal with the details of our risk profile that the company has.

If this information was to get out to other firms, I guess our feeling was other people would adapt our methodology, include it in their own tools, and then market Hydro One's great knowledge in this tool commercially, so we would be selling some of our risk-based approach - maybe not the specifics, but some of the approaches we use, some of the process we use - commercially.  And I guess that's why we feel very strongly that the details of the process and the model be kept confidential.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Well, before we get into that in more detail and we take submissions from others, first, I would ask for the submissions from the intervenors about whether or not they need to get into this document at all.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I asked for it, so I get to go first.

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I do have some questions.  I don't think -- I don't think they're getting into the guts of the process of the programming that this represents, but my approach is looking at some of what the planner is being asked to input, and what is behind that and the thought process.  That is what I am interested in.

So I do have some.  It's not a lot.  I am assuming or I am hoping that the presentation with the slide show, which gives I guess the background on how the planner approaches this program, is going to do a lot of the work for me, but I do have some questions which are keyed from the document.  I don't think it has to do with the actual program, but it is, rather, about how people are approaching the program.

But I think we're going in camera, anyway, for Mr. DeRose, if I could tack my cross onto the end of that, and then we can look at it afterwards and see if it can be put back on the public record.

Again, I think it is going to be ten, 20 minutes, at most.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Anyone else have a comment and interested in the document?  Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  I would just say this.  At this point, I do not anticipate any -- asking any questions on this.

I would like to hear Mr. Van Dusen's explanation this morning, and there may be something coming out of that.  The only point -- but I highly doubt it.

The only point that I would just say as a matter of policy, our view is documents, to the greatest extent, should be put on the public record.  I have to admit, like Mr. Rogers, I looked at this document last night and I simply couldn't see how anything there is confidential, but we are in the Board's hands on this.

We don't take a strong position one way or the other on it, other than the general policy position.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Anyone else?  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  We had hoped to ask some questions of Mr. Van Dusen in the course of the tutorial, with the permission of the Board, as to how the document worked, but beyond that, we didn't have any questions.  I don't have any comment about whether it should be -- the philosophy of the issue.

But we had hoped to ask the questions with the permission of the Board, as I say, in the course of the tutorial, as to how the document, which is to be -- which has been requested to be confidential, worked.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Van Dusen and Mr. Rogers, this is my problem with this thing.  I think it would be excellent if we could cross-examine, and then if we go down a path that we're concerned about, say, you know, identify that as a concerning area and discuss whether or not we need to go in camera, and then we could have that discussion.

My problem is I honestly don't understand from the document which aspects of it would be confidential.  As we ask questions and get responses, your logic and your thought process is in the PowerPoint, and I am assuming you are going to expand on that in your discussion there.

It seems to me that what you're saying is your logic and your thought process is the confidential part, not any particular numbers or details within this document.

I don't know how to handle confidentiality on this document.  I just don't see which parts you are concerned about.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The concern that I have is the extent to which the budgeting process of the utility ought to be secret.  I have a concern about that.  It seems to me that the budgeting process of the utility should be, to the extent reasonably possible, on the public record, and available for scrutiny not just by those who have signed undertakings, but by the -- but by John Q. Public, who may want to see how this extremely important utility in the province conducts itself in establishing its budgets.

Now, there may be some components of the budget process that have particular meaning for third parties, where their interests may be compromised or prejudiced without notice, and that would be an area that I would have some more sympathy for.

But generally speaking, I am at a loss, Mr. Rogers, to sort of understand why -- why this process should be cloaked in secrecy.  I don't get it.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, with great respect, sir, your legal training has led you to use some colourful language about "cloaked in secrecy" and there's an awful lot of information that's been --


MS. NOWINA:  That is not his legal training.  That is his personality.

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's not my legal training, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  There is an awful lot of information on the public record about the budgeting process.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand.


MR. ROGERS:  And what they go through.  And I do understand your concern about this document, and I confess to you, because of my ignorance, I am really unable to explain to you why it is commercially sensitive and confidential beyond what Mr. Van Dusen has already said.

And I agree with all of the comments about how a document should be public if at all possible.  I do understand your point of view.  Believe me, I do, and your position on that respect.

It is just that there are some things which -- and I can't say any better than Mr. Van Dusen did, I don't think -- and that is they have developed this, they have pride in it, they think it has commercial value.  Other people would like to take it, appropriate it and sell it to other people, and that doesn't seem right.

I think that is essentially the argument.

MS. NOWINA:  Can we confer for a moment?

[Board Panel confers.]

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Well, Ms. Chaplin offered some practical advice, and that is, without making a finding on confidentiality, why don't we proceed?  We will proceed with the presentation.

We can, at that point, see what questions need to be asked, and go back to Mr. Buonaguro, see how many questions he has -- still has remaining.

We may, at that point, go in camera, and on reviewing the transcript, you can then tell us which parts need to be stricken from the transcript.


MR. ROGERS:  I strongly suspect that everything that's discussed about this can be made public.  And I also want to -- I also want to say to the Board, I think in the galaxy of things that are confidential, this is probably not at the top of the list, to be frank with you, you know.

And I am concerned about -- for another day, this confidentiality issue has dogged you us throughout this hearing, and it seems to be more and more a problem in these cases that I have been involved with.

And so I want to give some thought about how we do this in future, but we're where we are in the process.  And could we just proceed with, I think, the way Ms. Chaplin suggested and see where we go from there?  I am hoping that we won't need to go in camera at all.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Buonaguro shall we return to you to begin this -- we will do the presentation first, and then --


MR. ROGERS:  That was my suggestion.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  And Mr. Stephenson has still not done his cross, or Mr. DeRose.  So the order of things that I would suggest, unless Mr. Stephenson has a problem with, is that we have the presentation.  We have Mr. Buonaguro's cross on that.  Then to Mr. Stephenson, then to Mr. DeRose.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, I have one request  before --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  -- Mr. Van Dusen begins.  And I spoke to Mr. Buonaguro this as well.

I wonder whether we would have the Board's permission -- not we, but all of the intervenors -- to interrupt Mr. Van Dusen as he goes in his tutorial, to ask him to explain when there are issues, rather than to have him, to do it in a traditional cross-examination way?

MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a problem with that, Mr. Rogers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  No.  If it is done [inaudible]

MS. NOWINA:  I think that will be helpful.

Mr. Millar, why don't we mark these documents with exhibit numbers for the moment?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We will start with the document for which confidentiality is proposed.  I am going to mark it with an "X" for now, with the understanding that may come off.  That would be Exhibit KX4.1.

EXHIBIT NO. KX4.1:  [Title WITHHELD]


MR. MILLAR:  And the PowerPoint presentation entitled "Risk instructions" will be K4.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  PowerPoint presentation entitled "Risk instructions"

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  You can go ahead, Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Van Dusen, now after that build-up, I want you to take us through K4.2 and try to explain this process to us using K4.2.  Please try to speak slowly and -- you have been here.  You know the concerns that people have.  Try to answer them for us, would you, please?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  I want to assure the Board that all the documents, the confidential material and the material I am presenting now, is material that is given and presented and taken through with all of our planners, so this is material which is shared with them.

So I am going to try and take you through the process and explain in more detail and give you a better understanding of how we apply the process.  First, I want to take you on the first page, entitled "Other Information Required."

The information that an asset planner would have in front of them when they go through this risk-based process in developing their plans is extensive.  They are not making their decisions.  They are not recommending levels of investment in a vacuum.

Overarching is the corporate strategy; the corporate strategy articulates where the company wishes the goal -- and wishes to go, and overall, what are the high-level targets for the company in the longer term.  Our strategy and what we're trying to achieve has been articulated in the evidence.  But they have much more specific information, much more -- information which is much more specific to the specific needs.  As I indicated, the assessments, the development of the plans that come in front of the board are usually done by asset groupings.  We usually refer to them as an -- areas of investment.  And they would have, with respect to their areas of investment, any specific customer feedback or requests.

So there could be difficulties with one specific customer in terms of reliability or in terms of safety.  And those specific -- that specific information would be available to the planner to consider.  They would have asset condition information.  This asset condition information, Madam Chair, is in the -- in the form of very specific studies done externally, and also our own internal asset condition studies.

They would have asset demographic information about the assets that they're dealing with.  How old are they?  When were they last replaced?

They would have system impact information.  To the extent they needed to have information with respect to load flows or loading on a particular station or particular set of lines, they would have that type of information.  They might also have specific tools that are geared to that specific set of assets, in terms of how they do analysis or what-if scenarios.

They would have available benchmarking information, to the extent that it's available.

Equipment performance information; as part of the routine maintenance done in the field, there would be specific information about equipment performance and equipment information.

It is also covered in the next point, when we talk about field reports and studies.  There are reports that come back from the field to the planner, saying:  You told us to go take a look at this.  It wasn't in that bad a condition.  Why did you tell us to do it?  Or alternatively, you told us not to look at this.  We happened to be driving by and saw it.  It's in bad condition.  You should know that, and take that into account.

That's somewhat anecdotal, but gives you the type of information that comes back from the field.

There's also historical information about both the costs that have been expended in the asset investment area, as well as the accomplishment information.  For any set of dollars, there's a set of accomplishments.  It may be that less was achieved with the set of dollars for specific reasons.  It may be the case that more was achieved with specific dollars for specific reasons.  That information is also available to the asset planner.

And then there would also be other types of information that may be specific to a business value or to that asset, i.e., customer survey results may be one of the other inputs that the asset planner has in front of them.  So there's a wealth of information that the asset planner has when they start the process.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Van Dusen, can I just interrupt you there to help me understand this?

This document that we have marked as Exhibit K4.2, this is something that is -- that was in existence long before anybody asked about it yesterday, was it not?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Absolutely.  This is parts of material that are presented to and taken through with the planners on an annual basis.


MR. ROGERS:  So when you -- you just taken us through all of the items on page 1 of this document, this slide presentation.  Is it -- tell us how this is used internally.  Is this provided -- does somebody go through these, this list -- as you have done with us, only in more detail, I assume -- with the people who are building up the budget?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's true.  As I indicated yesterday, Mr. Rogers, the specific discussions with the specific areas, the asset areas, usually run by the director or the manager of the area, where they take the managers and the people who are doing the detailed analysis and developing the detailed programs -- they take them through all of this information in conjunction with the confidential material, which is the tool, and how to apply these concepts with that tool.

MR. ROGERS:  So this is the aid that they use when they're instructing the people who are building up the budget how to go about it, is that it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Carry on.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I can go to page 2, Madam Chair.

As I said, our risk-based prioritization process is based across our business values.  These business values are obviously closely tied to our strategy and our strategic objectives and what we are trying to achieve.  So we do a risk-based prioritization across all of these values, financial, reputation, reliability, regulatory, customer, business efficiency and health and safety.

When we -- at the highest level, what we're trying to do is describe -- the benefits are expressed as the ability to mitigate risks, so the benefit of spending more money is mitigating a certain amount of risk.

As we've talked about before, each successive level of funding must mitigate an increasing amount of risk, and the concept is looking at:  What residual risk would be remaining after five years after the injection of the spending at whatever level?

If I can move to the next page, called "Funding Levels", we've had great discussion about that, the funding levels.  The two main concepts that I thought I would just remind the Board about were the minimum level, which we discussed at great length yesterday, and something called the asset need level.

As you will remember, Madam Chair, I described the asset need level as the initial starting place for the process.  This is the level of spend and the level of accomplishment that the planners would plan to in the absence of other constraints.

As we go through successive slides, I will explain how that is done very specifically.

If I can take you to the next chart, "Risk Assessment"?  So this is the chart that you've seen in our evidence.  It talks about our risk matrix.  It talks about probability and outcome.

What I am going to take you through now, Madam Chair, is the process we go for both populating this chart with information that the planner specifically uses, and then I am going to describe how the planner actually uses the information.

So what I am going to go through is tell you:  How did we come up with this, what do we put in these charts and how does it get used?

To do that, there are two important concepts.  The first concept has to do with, one, the -- has to do with the -- that's -- the Y axis has to do with the likelihood.

This is specific information of how we articulate probability of an event happening.  It talks about our scale, about something being very likely all the way up to being a remote possibility.

It talks about the expectation of that event happening in terms of years.  It talks about the probability of that event happening in any given year, and it talks about the probability in the planning period.

So we try to be as specific as possible in our direction to the planners, such that when they're saying an event would be a medium event, we challenge them and articulate to them, Then that means you're saying that is something that would happen once in every five years?

And we can go through this chart and actually talk to them about, Why did you think that would happen?  What studies or analysis did you have that led you to the conclusion that that's a medium risk?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Can I just stop you there?  I hope you don't mind, Madam Chair, so I can understand this.  If I look at this risk assessment chart, on the left-hand axis, left-hand side of the page, let's take medium.  It says 25 to 65 percent.  What does that mean, exactly?  Maybe you explained it, but I didn't follow, if you did.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In medium on the far right-hand side, when it says 65 to 25 percent?

MR. ROGERS:  It is the left side on my document.  Yes.  You're a page ahead of me.  That's all.  They're both the same.  It's just I don't -- help me understand what that means, the 25 to 65 percent.  Is that the 25 to 65 percent chance this risk will occur?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, would happen within the planning period.

MR. ROGERS:  I see.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That would be what we would consider to be a medium risk.

MR. CLARK:  Can I ask a question, Mr. Van Dusen?  Just a clarification.  You talk about an event.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  A lot of distribution programs handle a large number of similar assets, let's say distribution transformers or insulators or something like that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. CLARK:  How do you sort of define an event with a risk for that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's coming up in the subsequent overheads, and if I don't address the question, please come back to it, sir.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, sorry.

MR. FAYE:  Excuse me, Mr. Van Dusen.  Just a quick question on how you --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  The voice from behind the pillar.

You've mentioned that you have assigned some level of probability to this and that sort of smacks of statistics, but am I right in thinking that the probability is very subjective?  It's your experienced staffs' best estimate of what might happen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It is a combination of the two items that you mentioned, sir.  It is statistics.  There's some hard core mathematics behind:  If you have five levels and you have increasing probability, how do you rank those things in terms of probability from a statistical point of view?

But it is tempered by judgment of the engineers, absolutely.  Sorry, Mr. Rogers, did you have an outstanding question I haven't addressed?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Carry on.  Just tell me what page you are on.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So I was just finishing up on the page called "Important Concepts Likelihood Scale For Business Risks".

MR. ROGERS:  That's my problem.  I was a page behind, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  That's okay, Mr. Rogers, I know how you feel.

[Laughter.]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So if I can now move to the next page, which talks somewhat, Mr. Clark, to the question you just asked.  What are the events?  So we have talked about the one scale.  Let's talk about the other scale.  Let's talk about the risk tolerances.

As I described, Madam Chair, for each business value we have a list of minor, moderate, major, severe and worst case events. And here's a generic description of all of those types of events.

A minor event is noticeable disruption to results.  A moderate event would be material deterioration in results.  A concern may not be acceptable.  Management response may be considered.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Van Dusen.  Is it possible to give us an example of each?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it would be.  If I could think of something -- I will use a health and safety example.  Obviously something that would be a moderate concern to us is that we're not improving our health and safety targets.  So a moderate event is, despite the actions we've taken, there's no improvement in the health and safety indicators, and we have specific indicators in terms of accident severity rates, so on and so forth.

Obviously, as you move up to a worst case event, a worst case event in the health and safety business value would be a fatality.  Obviously, you would have a fatality and that would be the worst case event.

MS. NOWINA:  So if I can ask a question, Mr. Van Dusen, then.  All of this is measured against some predefined results the company is expecting; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Predefined events for each of these areas.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So here gives you the events.  That fills up the other axis of the chart.  Then if I could take you to the next page, "Important concepts":  What is asset need?

There are two important concepts on this chart I wish to discuss and to provide to my friends in the audience.

First of all, we have now populated the chart with numbers, and what we've done is we have a probability scale on the left side and we have the outcome scale across the top, as you saw in the other chart, but now we've populated it.

And, once again, we used statistics and risk theory here.  We said the minor event, which is remote, we're going to give the value 1 to get a starting place, and then what we're going to do is we're going to use - in statistics it is called an exponential function - the E function, and we populate the rest of the values, according to statistical probabilities, up to the catastrophic and very likely.  And that rounds to a value of 550.

So what we now say is, if you have a medium event with a moderate outcome, the risk score there would be 13.

So just to leap now to a specific example - and I will do more of this later - if a planner took a look at the investments at level -- level 1 for distribution line maintenance, and they decided that the probability was in the medium and that if they spent at that level, the outcome would only be a moderate outcome, the risk score for that would be 13.  And that would be the number that they would put in with respect to that particular business value when they start doing the analysis.

Let me go on to talk about something else on this chart --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I have just a quick clarification?  It's Mike Buonaguro over here.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when picking the numbers that go into the chart, basically, there is one, two, three, four five times one, two, three, four, five; there is 25 values for every decision, possible values for every decision.  So when your -- when the planner is putting in the probability of a particular event, they're either going to pick a one, a five, a 13, a 23, a 62; the number is going to be in the table for them?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So they're not individually coming up with another figure and trying to fit it into the table?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, there isn't.  And this is a little bit off-topic, but one of the interesting things and one of things we built into the tool is obviously drop-down menus, so it becomes a bit idiot-proof, so they can't pick a number 33.5 and put it in there.  So it prevents that from happening as well.

If I can go on, Madam Chair, we also have the concept of asset need here.  So conceptually, as I explained yesterday and I think earlier today, what we asked the planners to do initially is:  Devoid of constraints, if you were to plan this system to address the issues that you see, what would you plan?  What level would you plan at?

And we've attempted to articulate that in terms of this risk concept, such that we could then keep the whole process consistent.

So this band, which -- unfortunately we used horrible acronyms -- the prudent residual risk target band -- think of it as asset needs -- represents a band where, if the planner, devoid of constraints, they should plan such that their investment level gets them to a residual risk which is in that band.  Now, you will see it is band and not a specific number, and that is because when we looked across the investments, we realized that it -- that it varied between the different types of investments exactly.  So rather than give them absolute guidance, we gave them this general guidance.  And so far, we've found that this general guidance is sufficient for their needs.

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Van Dusen, sorry to --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir?

MR. DeROSE:  I'm at the end here.  Mr. DeRose.

Do I take from this that for each of the asset needs which are assessed, that somewhere in your system there is a number assigned to it?

So that, for instance, would you be able to provide to the Board a list of assets and say:  This year we've decided to go with a five or a 13 or a one for a particular -- for this particular asset, as opposed to a nine for this asset?  Does it really come down to that level of risk assessment?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The short answer is yes, but let me give you a bit of a caveat.

It is that initially when we developed the asset needs for the consideration of the senior management team, we would cross all of the business values, for every and specific asset, and say:  On finance it was an 11, on safety it was a 13, and so on and so forth.  You could articulate where we started.

As we go through the process of applying constraints, we obviously use, in applying the constraints and coming down, we obviously use risk-based philosophy.  And obviously we take out the item which has least impact on risk.

But there are other factors that then come in that -- that help the senior management team make their decisions.  Some of those factors could be letters from the shareholder.  Some of those factors could be some specific event, extraordinary event, such as the Dufferin event we had, that comes up that changes priorities.

So it is a little bit hard in the final, final product to do that with great specificity, but conceptually, yes, that's where we would end up.  But certainly at the very beginning of the process, that's well known.

MS. NOWINA:  So can I clarify, then, Mr. Van Dusen, at the beginning you have this set of numbers that you have analyzed.  As you apply more and more judgment through your management and your executive process, you don't go back and alter the numbers so you come up with a different set of numbers at the end of the process; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We don't unilaterally across the board.  We do it in many cases, and we use the risk-based ranking list, which is what I am going to talking about soon.  We use that to help make decisions, but sometimes there is judgment and experience and other factors which lead to the decision-making process.

The tool doesn't make all our decisions.  We don't press a button, and that's the answer.  There is a lot of judgment implied in the process, obviously, Madam Chair.

But that -- that judgment is certainly informed by the risk, the additional risk.

If you do that, Mr. Struthers -- and I have been in many meetings where I've had that -- if you do that, Mr. Struthers, this is the additional risk you would be taking on in these areas.  Do you clearly understand that?  He says: yes.  He moves on, and we -- we do it.

MS. NOWINA:  But you don't feed that back into the model and get another kick out of the model in every case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not in every case, we don't, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Let me then move on, Madam Chair, to the -- to the next page, called:  "Important concepts, asset need to asset plan."

And this is the concept that I've talked about, Madam Chair, when we apply the constraints, what happens.

So generally speaking, when we apply constraints, we don't spend more money.  We generally spend less money.  And the constraints are articulated here in summary fashion, financial and regulatory, and this constraint specifically takes a look at the impact on customers and specifically looks at the impact of rate increases on customers; resources, materials, ability to get outages and then other commitments.

Obviously, there are certain commitments the company is involved in.  The energy contract is an example.  That may not be a good example, but it's an example, the energy contract we're involved in.

And the management team goes through a process of applying those constraints across all of the various investments.  And as they apply the constraints, the risk that the company is accepting moves up closer to -- we call it the red zone, but the numbers that are shaded in darker colour.  So obviously, if you're spending less money as you've made -- spending less money, you are accepting more risk.

And I think I may have quickly said yesterday, Madam Chair, the reason we start at the asset need level is such that we have a -- I'll call it a baseline, from which we can articulate additional risk that the company is accepting by moving up towards the red zone by applying constraints.

So if I could just stay at this page for a second, or maybe it is better demonstrated on the next page, which is the example.

Madam Chair, I am going to take you through this.  I assure you that Mr. Raymond Gee on panel 3 can give you very detailed accounts of what specific information was brought to bear in specific -- specific circumstances, and what information and some of the specific things.  I am unfortunately a finance person and not an engineer, and he -- he would be able to take you through it in detail, but let me take you through the process and the concepts of this.

So this is -- I have to put on my glasses, I can't see.


MS. NOWINA:  I had that problem too, Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. ROGERS:  Just before you start, this -- this page we have here, Mr. Van Dusen, "Risk assessment example," it is an example, I take it?  But is it a real-life example?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It is a specific real-life example, pulled out to demonstrate.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So Madam Chair, if I could just explain what the chart has on it, at the far left it talks about drivers.  Once again, that is our internal nomenclature for what type of investment area.  The investment area here is investment management.  And then we've talked about the various levels of investment, the minimum level moving up to level 4.

So in this particular example, the planner decided that four levels of investment were required to articulate the entire range of possibilities that would be needed to be explored, potentially, by senior management.

Once again -- and I'm sorry I didn't get this overnight -- I believe the level selected, I think this is a year old, but the level selected as asset needs here, I think, was level 2, but I could be wrong.

Then you have a description, and the description here talks about the accomplishments.  So with each of the various investments, you obviously have dollar spends, but you are spending dollars to do something and here is a very simple example, that you have a nine-year cycle and how many kilometres are you going to accomplish in terms of vegetation management.

And then we go through the process of adding other information.  As you move up, it talks about the risk that is mitigated.  So it talks about -- and the number we pick here is we picked the highest risk mitigated in terms of this presentation.  So as you know, across the different business values you could be mitigating more or less risk, depending on where you were in the risk profile.

So what we say is you're mitigating more risk.  Obviously, if you do the minimum, that's sort of a standard figure.  You have to do the minimum; we put in a bit of a dummy value because we always assume that we -- we need to do the minimum level of spending.

And then if we went to level 1, we would mitigate 90 -- we would mitigate a score of 94.  If we spent more money, we would mitigate down to a level of score of 62.

So as you successively spend more money, you mitigate more risk, but of course, there is a law of diminishing returns.  At some point, you're spending a lot of money to get down to a very low level.  And then there is the cost-benefit trade off.

Then we generate something called the P-index, and we literally rank across all of the business values, the residual score that is left.  And now this is the -- if I can use this term, the beauty of the system and why it is so valuable to companies, is now you have a language of describing each investment in the same terms, because before we were saying, How valuable is an IT investment versus more spending in corporate finance for compliance people versus more spending on a line?

Now we have a language to articulate the investments in a risk language which is common across most of the investments.  So we take about 75 to 80 percent of all of the company's investments through this.  There are some costs that -- mainly common -- some common costs which are not taken through this specific process.  They do go through a risk-based process, but it is not through this specific model.

Now you have a language to articulate very different types of investments, and it gives you a ranking.  So we literally can and do generate a giant list saying, If this was your only consideration, what would your ranking be?  And you can generate your ranking.

So, in theory, if you told me I had ten dollars to spend, I could generate a list that had the top areas that most risk would be mitigated by doing that work, by the P index, down the ten dollars.  That work would be done.  Everything from 11 dollars onwards wouldn't be done, and this would give you -- this is very simple and a bit naive, but that's conceptually what we're able to do with the process.

If I could just move to the last --

MR. ROGERS:  If I could stop you there, because somebody is going to ask you this for sure.  So when my friends asked you, well, if the Board took $20 million off your OM&A expenditure request, would this P index tell us which projects would be cut out of the budget?  Is that the way it works, or not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, it is a discrete point in time, and if that was your only attribute for making the decision, then, yes, you could use it that way.

MR. ROGERS:  In the real world?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In the real world, there are other factors.  You would take a look across certain investments.  There's certain investments that you may consider higher priority because of ministerial directives or for other reasons.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I can take you now to the last page, what this last page does, really, is articulate, in just a few bullets, the material which is in the confidential filing.  It talks about:  What do we do with the planners?

So the planners have the benefit of the type of articulation that I have gone through, in terms of specifics, and they would have it specifically from their manager or director.

What we now do is we now take them to the tool that we've developed that does all of this and has all of these drop-down screens, and whatever, and we say, This is the database.  This is how you use the database.  This is how you get access to the information.  This is how you input your costs and your accomplishments.  This is how you input the risk assessment with this as the backdrop, with this type of information that I have described in the presentation as the backdrop.

Now you have to provide the rationale.  You will need to write up - and we actually can do it in the system - write up in detail what it is you have put in.  We just don't put numbers in and accomplishments.  We don't put in seven-year cycle, 10,000.  We do a detailed description of what it is and how we came to our decision, and then you can actually in the system attach the relevant information.  Studies, business cases, benchmarking information can be attached to the system.

So, Madam Chair, that is the end of the presentation and I hope it's been helpful.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Any questions just generally on the presentation for Mr. Van Dusen?  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  A couple of questions, Mr. Van Dusen, and one of them I am going to have to refer to the confidential document, but I won't --

MS. NOWINA:  This is just on the presentation itself on the logic we have just gone through.  Are there any questions on --

MR. CLARK:  I won't do that.

MS. NOWINA:  On the training session.  This is a training session and any questions where we need more education in that way.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, just on the last slide on the example, I noticed that you've got eight factors, and I think the one that has been added is "WAR".  Is that an acronym or do you mean war?  The second last slide, sorry.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think what that is is a weighting -- is a weighted -- we do a couple of things.  The main index we use is unweighted.  It is equal weighting, and then there is a weighted index that we sometimes play around with.

If we decided that actually one value was more important to the other, how would it affect the decision?  And so we do a bit of a weighting and play with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that column is -- you can add that column and, quote/unquote, "play around with it" in any particular spending area --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- as appropriate?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, I see.  Okay, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Any other questions on this document?

MR. CLARK:  Madam Chair, I did have one that is on the presentation, if that is okay.

Mr. Van Dusen, in the matrix that got you that curve with the long acronym, do the values always go in the one direction, which is to say did the probability -- all of your numbers in that chart -- I will go to page -- well, it is not page numbered, but it is that nice one there.

They all drop as you go in one direction, and they all --

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, it is headed "Important Concepts", that page.

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, yes, "Important Concepts".

From minor to catastrophic severity always goes up; understood?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  Likelihoods always seem to go in another direction, and then when you get the curve, in the example you have shown, it seems to generally slide down from, in this case, an 11 to a 6.

Do you always get those results or --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not specifically.

MR. CLARK:  -- does a combination of factors give you sort of a bathtub distribution on occasion?  Am I making myself clear?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I do  -- and I just want to reemphasize that this is kind of the -- what we're trying to articulate here to the planner is give them something a little more specific, such that they can plan to asset needs.  So we drew this band and, once again, it was  just -- I won't call it a notional.  There is more behind it than just notional.

But if they told us that for the -- a likely minor 9 was their asset needs, we would accept that, because that was very close to the band.

So, yes, it can go in and out of this band, but this band is representative of what work could you do if there weren't constraints, and we've articulated them as being where you would end up from a risk perspective.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you very much.  I think I understand a lot better now.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I just had a quick question.  Can I ask you to turn up the penultimate slide again?  This is the one you discussed with Mr. Buonaguro, the chart.

He asked you about "WAR", which I take it is an acronym for weighted average risk; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  So I just want to understand what that means.  That means you can assign different weights to the different risks, if you so choose?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the different business values, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  For the business value that is marked "customer", is that customer satisfaction?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Our customer satisfaction is one of the main elements there, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Under "customer"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  What else would be under "customer"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There would be -- customer survey results would be one of the items that would be in there.  There would be complaints.  There would be complaints that are raised to the senior management level.

Those would be the types of things that would articulate the different severity of risk.

MR. MILLAR:  And when you do the weighting, is that something you decide on internally, or is there some sort of formula that feeds into the weighted average?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The weighting is done internally, and, as I said, it's really a secondary index that we use.  The primary index is non-weighted.  It is equal weighting across the business values.  It is just that at times what we do is, let's say if reliability -- we thought reliability was much more important for this specific thing.  If we weighted it a little higher, would that actually make us do something different?

It gives the planner a bit of another test of their logic, if I can say that.

MR. MILLAR:  Sort of a sanity check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's another opportunity to do a sanity check, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess it is possible, then, that the results of this weighted average testing might lead you to reprioritize, or would you always stick with the original non-weighted average or the non-weighted figures?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In the end, what is put forward in the proposal is the non-weighted.  But what they would do is, in the background, they would take a look at, if they weighted it, you know, would it make a different decision if it did.  Then they have to think about their logic in terms of what they chose initially as the risk that was being mitigated.

It is a factor that might influence their decision.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Just one question.  Going back to an early part of your presentation, you came to the point of how you were going to calculate probabilities.

And you determined that you were going to use the E-function, the exponential function.  Do you do any studies later to confirm that your risk actually does follow an exponential function?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Two things:  One is risk theory says it is exponential in some manner or -- I shouldn't say exponential.  It is an increasing -- the probability does go up.  It is not a linear.

But more -- more recently, actually, as more -- as recent as this last six months, we did a bit of a survey.  This was internal to the organization I was in.  It wasn't a published survey or taken to senior management.

I myself, because I run the risk-based process, did a survey across North America and Europe of different people and different organizations and looked at the functions that they used.

And all sort of different equations are actually used.  No one uses -- or very few, if any, I think, used a linear function, but variations on an exponential function are used across the industry.

That's not quite your question, I know.  You asked if we could test it, but risk theory would say it is exponential in nature, but actually -- we actually got some people to use the equations they used and they're -- they're all exponential-like, if I can say that.

MS. NOWINA:  That's everyone?  All right.

For the next step in the process, my desire is to do the most efficient thing.  So we are going to leave the document, the second document, KX4.1, as confidential for the moment and treat it as such.

So the question is whether the cross-examination is most efficient to have it in public and have a careful examination and careful responses, or to go in camera and later look at whether or not the transcript can be redacted or, in its whole, can be on the public record.

I guess my question is to you, Mr. Rogers, and your panel for the most part -- although I will ask Mr. Buonaguro as well in terms of his questioning -- which you believe would be the most efficient process.

MR. ROGERS:  I suspect the latter.  I don't know what questions will be asked of course, but we have to go in camera anyway.  And it just seems to me that if the questions were asked then, I suspect most of them, if not all, dealing with this can be made public.

But I would think that would be the most efficient, to have one in camera session.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We were going to go a bit back and forth on this, because it was Mr. DeRose who needed to go in camera.  Later I was going to go to Mr. Buonaguro, go in camera, then go to Mr. Stephenson.

We could change that order.  We could go with Mr. Stephenson now, assuming he doesn't need to go in camera, because he hasn't had his cross on anything yet.  Nor has Mr. DeRose.

So I am open to suggestions.

MR. ROGERS:  That's my suggestion.

MS. NOWINA:  Is to do one in camera session?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. Buonaguro, comments?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I do have some questions.  I don't have a lot of questions.  I think it might take 10 or 15 minutes at most.

I would be happy to talk about what I am going to ask with Mr. Rogers at the break, and we can try and figure out then if it is something that is -- can be done on the record.  It is not -- it's -- I am just trying to understand some things and get some information that is into the in the document but is prompted by the document

MR. ROGERS:  You know, with the goodwill expressed that way, I am sure we can do this in public.  If everybody has that attitude, we will do it in public.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to talk about it at the break?

MS. NOWINA:  Do you want to talk about it at the break first?

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  Or your risk profile?  I don't know which number that is on the chart, but...

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  See how deep the well is?  I am a very trusting counsel.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. Buonaguro, if you are comfortable with that, and I would, as I said, panel, this is -- witness panel, you will have to be alert to what your concerns are, because I understand from -- that Mr. Rogers may not be totally alert to it as well, just because we are not clear on the issues.

MR. ROGERS:  Now that I have had the tutorial, I understand it now.

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, why don't you go ahead?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  On the record.
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro (continued):

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at page 22, to give you a reference.  I am not going to read from it, but I am looking at page 22 of the -- of KX4.1.

And it is talking at the top of the page about resourcing, in the second or third sentence?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain what you mean in the document or in terms of planning, whether you, A, can or cannot resource something within the five-year plan, just clarify what that means?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  We asked the planner, to the extent that they know and are in communication with the lines of businesses and have a very good handle on that, if there is some sort of resourcing issue, if they could also note that in the material that they're preparing.

So it could be that they're preparing material, but they know there are not enough engineers of class "X" to do this work, or that we have 10 and they think that this is going to take 15.

We ask them to articulate that information, because that is very helpful information then we are applying the constraints.  If they can give us some thought at this early stage about what they feel may be a resourcing constraint, that information is extremely valuable when we go down to applying constraints.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  And in this particular page, you're talking about red-zone planning and the minimum level of funding.  You're saying -- my understanding of this paragraph at the top is that nothing in your minimum level of spending plan shows up in the red zone unless it can't be resourced.

Maybe --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am okay with the first part of the sentence, not the second part of the sentence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Our instructions to the planners is they cannot -- they cannot plan to be in the red zone.  They cannot plan to be there.  So they have to articulate -- the minimum level has to articulate getting them just out of the red zone.

So at that point -- at that point, I guess -- I guess, in theory there could be a resource constraint even at the minimum level.  We haven't generally seen that, but that, I guess, is a possibility.  Yes, it would be.  And that certainly would come up in the subsequent discussions.  It is not that that would get missed.

If we brought forward a minimum level and then the lines of businesses said:  You know, I just can't do that, then we would have a problem.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  And that's one of the benefits of the system, is it lets you know where you could have problems, and it lets you know in a -- in a consistent manner.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just so I understand, so if something showed up in your minimum plan and it was in the red zone, it is probably something like:  In order to address that, we need to buy a $20-million transformer and we just can't get that in five years.  We're on the waiting list and it is going to take seven, so it is outside of the planning horizon.  Would that be an example where something -- it ends up in the plan in the red zone, but only because it wasn't able to be resourced?'

That's what the paragraph sort of suggests to me.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It suggests that and I -- what I am suggesting to you is that at the minimum level, we generally can resource and can fund and do minimum levels.

I don't -- can't think of a circumstance where we have actually planned something, where we know there's going to be a -- you know, it's in the red zone and a very high potential of something happening.

I can't remember where we have actually planned that way.  You know, circumstances can happen and cause you problems, but we -- I don't believe we plan that way.

So I understand your point and, you know, could it --could it happen, could that event ever occur?  Yes.  In the realm of possibility, it could occur.

Do we plan that way?  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am looking at the same page, and your slide presentation talks in, I guess, detail about the various likelihoods: the very likely, the likely, the medium, the unlikely and the remote --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- definitions?  And it gives very specific ranges, so I think that likely is 95 percent to 65 percent over the five years, is the percentage chance of it happening within the five years that defines likely; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, just where -- which page are you looking at?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at the same page from the confidential, but I am extrapolating from something I have seen on there that matches the slide --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Are you looking at -- sorry, are you looking at the page that has "Important concepts" on the top of it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  "Likelihood scale for business risks"?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's a -- in that case, the planner says -- looks at all of the information that you talked about in the slide presentation, and says:  The likelihood of that happening in five years is 75 percent.  That puts them squarely within the range for likely, and so when they're in the program, they know that they're in that row, for that particular level or area of spending?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The flip side is the severity, the minor, moderate, major, severe and catastrophic --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- columns.  And looking at this particular slide, I notice that it talks about, if you put your cursor over top of it, it -- the description pops up.

So for example, in this one you are going through a financial risk assessment?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On page 22, and my understanding is that in this case, the selected --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, if you are going to read these numbers --

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would prefer that go in camera.  I don't want those numbers read out, please.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, the probability numbers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The probability is fine.  I don't want the other text read out, please, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It doesn't matter to me what the specific -- you're talking about what -- the number that identifies what investment we're talking about?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I don't need that.  I am just looking at the -- it looks like you have landed in the moderate and likely?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For the example.  And that means that in the box below that, where it is labelled "probability", 95 percent to 65 percent over five years pops up on the screen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the same time, the description below that for consequences pops up?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which suggests to me that for each of the -- for example, this is a financial risk assessment.  For minor, moderate, major, severe and catastrophic, there is predefined consequence descriptions for each of those categories or levels of consequence for financial risk, in this case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  As I discussed with the Chair this morning, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then would that hold true across all of the seven different business values?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in the system and as part of your planning process for minor, moderate, major, severe and catastrophic, you have a description for each of the seven business values.  So you have 35 text boxes -- text boxes?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I only have the one here.  Can I get, as an undertaking those descriptions for each of the seven business values across minor, major, moderate, severe and catastrophic?

MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that this level of detail is sensitive information, for reasons which I can't articulate appropriately at the moment, but it has to do with --

MS. NOWINA:  Shall we go in camera, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I think so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't need it right now on the record.  If they want to produce it by way of
undertaking --

MS. NOWINA:  No.  I think it is a discussion.  I am beginning to understand the sensitivity, and let's go in camera, please, and the court reporter note that we are going in camera.

--- On commencing in camera at 10:09 a.m.

[Page 46, line 11 to Page 54, line 28 have been

redacted]


--- On resuming public session at 10:21 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  We are no longer in camera.

Mr. DeVellis, you can ask questions on the presentation, then.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis (continued):

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Mr. Van Dusen, Mr. Struthers.

Can I take you back to your K4.2, the chart entitled "Important concepts"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  As I understood your presentation, the planners select both the level of probability and the -- of a risk or of an event happening and the severity of the event.  And then the model spits out the specific risk number.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, but just with a short clarification.

What they're picking is levels, levels of work and accomplishments, and then associating that level of work and accomplishments with probability and outcome.

I just want to be -- it is not a risk exercise.  It is a "what work are we doing" exercise. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But is it likely -- let me ask you if you agree with me.  A planner, if there is a doubt, the planner will select or will -- the level of risk or the probability of risk or the severity of an outcome, the planner chooses.  If there is any doubt, he will -- he or she will choose the higher level of probability, the higher level of -- of risk outcome?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We would hope our professional engineers and our professionals would not do that.

However, as I indicated yesterday, there are at least three levels of challenge to the levels that are chosen before it gets to the senior management team.  And at those levels, the specific values chosen by the planner would be -- would be, you know -- they would have to prove themselves -- when they would have to prove themselves based on technical studies, information available to them, and then their professional expertise.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That wasn't what I was getting at.

Are there constraints built into the model?  Before -- I mean I know you talked about the constraints imposed after the fact, starting from the top down, the regulatory constraints, et cetera.

But are there constraints built in as the planner goes along to sort of, as you said, justify the level of risk or the probability of risk or the disparity of the outcome?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Specifically built into the model, no.  There is no -- there is no tab --

MR. DeVELLIS:  I mean model in a general sense, not specifically the software model, but in your planning model.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, as I said, in the planning model there is lots of challenge and there's lots of push-back and there's lots of opportunities to challenge that level.

The model itself, the actual tool doesn't have something that -- which forbids you to enter a specific risk or probability of outcome, no.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.

Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have any follow-up questions, any cross-examination?

All right.  Before we break, then, Mr. DeRose?
Procedural Matters:


MR. DeROSE:  There we go.  Now it is working.

Madam Chair, I raised by accident during the in camera session -- I will just put it on the record again, on the public record -- that I have received e-mails indicating that the cost-of-capital report has been released this morning.  Obviously, the Board Members knew it was coming.

I have not reviewed the Decision, other than taking a very quick look at the executive summary, but on the face of it, it appears that this is something that could affect Hydro One's application in this case, and I would simply raise -- and this is the panel, as I understand it, that we would normally ask questions on those issues.

I am not sure whether Hydro One has had an opportunity to review the decision and to determine whether there is going to be any amendments to their application.  But if there is, I think this is just procedurally something that we should get some guidance on before we start our cross-examination of this panel, because if there are going to be changes, I am not going to deal with cost-of-capital issues in my cross-examination.  I would just defer it until those amendments, if any, are forthcoming.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  And obviously, the Panel, the Board Panel was aware that the document was coming.  I think everyone needs a chance to review the document and determine whether or not there needs to be consideration in this hearing.

And I would suggest that we continue with our normal panels.  I would ask Hydro One to consider that and parties to consider that, and we may have to bring this panel back, or another panel to deal specifically with cost of capital, if we determine that we're going to broaden the discussion on that topic.

Any other questions?  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, sorry to go from the sublime to less so.  I have a procedural question.  I have a witness from California who is sitting in the food court right now, just in case we were going in camera.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  He has asked me to advise him what the schedule is today.  Can I give him some --

MS. NOWINA:  So let's talk about - let's talk about the schedule a bit, then.

So remaining for this panel, then, is Mr. Stephenson's cross.  How long would that take, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I would have thought about 20 minutes or so.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And Mr. DeRose's cross?

MR. DeROSE:  My best guess, it is actually seems to have grown rather than shrunk, which I know is probably unwelcome.  I would guess an hour to an hour and a half.  I could certainly take us to the lunch break with Mr. Stevens.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, to some extent, it depends on what Mr. DeRose covered.  We have discussed matters, and I think there is some overlap in ours, so hopefully his will shorten mine.  If he covers what I think he is going to cover, I will be less than half an hour.  But, otherwise, it would be a bit longer than that.

MS. NOWINA:  A bit longer?

MR. MILLAR:  It might be an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers, did you plan on having a re-examination?

MR. ROGERS:  No, not at the moment.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, it looks like breakfast is going to turn into brunch is going to turn into lunch for Dr. Woo, and then we would deal with him this afternoon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am concerned with is, hearing those numbers, we might not even get him finished today.

MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.  Well, that is a risk.  We may and we may not.  We have to deal with him today.  First, we will deal with Dr. Woo today, if that means having this panel come back on Monday.  So it is a question of how we decide is the best way to organize that.

I know Mr. DeRose came in for this, specifically, as well.

MR. DeROSE:  I would just simply say this.  Dr. Woo has come much farther than I have come, and, as you know, I will be back here on Monday and I am here to the end of the day.  If Mr. Rogers is fine with it and it is in your inclination to do this, feel free to put Mr. Woo ahead of my cross-examination -- or Dr. Woo, I'm sorry, from my perspective.  Don't use me as any consideration for holding up Dr. Woo.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  If I can get my two cents in here?

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.

MR. ROGERS:  I am very anxious to have this panel over with before we do Dr. Woo.  I appreciate the problem here.  We are trying to accommodate Dr. Woo.  I would like to go as long as we can with this panel and hope that we finish with them today, and then do Dr. Woo.  If we can't, we can't.

MS. NOWINA:  How long do we expect the cross on Dr. Woo to be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I have heard is about an hour and a half.

MS. NOWINA:  It's about an hour and a half?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And examination-in-chief?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Five or ten minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  We should be able to complete today.  What I would suggest, then, is that we go as far as we can before our lunch break, have Dr. Woo after lunch, and then complete this panel -- have every intention of completing this panel in the remainder of the day, if they can stay around for Dr. Woo's cross.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  We will now take a 15-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 10:29 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.
DECISION:


Just quickly, we have made our finding on the confidential documents.  We have found that 4X1 will remain confidential, and we do ask that the undertaking request by Mr. Buonaguro be produced on a confidential basis.  We won't need to reassess that decision once we see it.  It will be held in confidence.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, could I ask the Board's indulgence to defer implementation of that order until Monday?  I would like to consider the matter.  It is -- my clients are concerned about it, and I may ask the Board to review its decision.

So if I could just not produce it until Monday until I have had a chance to be better briefed about it?

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  We don't have –- we are not going to cross-examine on it.

MR. ROGERS:  And I may have -- I mean I understand your ruling.  There may be some conditions that I may ask the Board to impose as well, but if I could be given the weekend to think about this, I would be grateful.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  So how we will proceed, we will proceed with -- oh, an undertaking number.  Yes, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I would propose we at least mark it with an undertaking.

MS. NOWINA:  Oh, absolutely.  We do expect it to come in.

MR. MILLAR:  JX4.1.  Maybe Mr. Buonaguro could repeat exactly what the undertaking is for.

[Page 62, line 12 to Page 63, line 10 have been 


redacted at the Board's request]

MS. NOWINA:  So the way the remainder of today, we expect it to go, is we will have Mr. Stephenson's cross now.  If possible, before lunch, we will begin Mr. DeRose's cross in camera.  Will some of it will not be in camera?

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, most of my cross-examination will be public.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. DeROSE:  There will be a few questions in camera, so what I would propose and what I have suggested to Mr. Millar is that I will complete my entire public cross-examination.  I will keep the in camera until the very end.  We can go to in camera, and then on the assumption that there may have been other intervenors that would also go in camera, they would then go after me.

But my understanding is at the moment I think I am the only one, so...

MS. NOWINA:  That is my expectation.  So we will begin your cross, your public cross this morning.

MR. DeROSE:  Anytime.

MS. NOWINA:  Probably not complete it.

We do have to break for lunch at 12:00 o'clock for us.  And then immediately after lunch, we will have Dr. Shepherd's witness –- or Mr. Shepherd's witness, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  I promoted you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Specialty?

MS. NOWINA:  And return to Mr. DeRose's cross if it hasn't been completed this morning.  Mr. Shepherd?  Or Mr. Stephenson?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I just want to put the current application and the rate impact issue in some context, particularly in the continuum of where this utility has been, where it is, and where it is going in the future.  And my questions, I think, all deal with that issue.

Would you agree with me that it is appropriate for Hydro One, when it is looking at the issue of the impact on its customers in terms of the rates coming out of this hearing, to also look -- to also be mindful of the consequences that the decisions it makes with respect to this hearing will have in respect of future years and rates in future years?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think that is a fair statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And would you agree with me that it would be wrong for Hydro One to achieve some short-term rate objective, meaning –- short-term meaning this application -- by placing some undue burden on future rates and future ratepayers?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The plan that we put in place is, as the company is concerned, is fair, reasonable and does the work that we believe is necessary to ensure the reliability for the customer base.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me come back to my question.  And I am not suggesting to you that you are doing something different in this case, but I am talking at more a level of principle.

And the principle I am getting at is this:  Would you agree with me that it would be wrong for Hydro One to use as a rate constraint, somehow, in relation to this application, something that places an undue burden vis-à-vis the future, in terms of future rates and future ratepayers, by shifting costs in a way to the future, which unduly burdens those rates and those ratepayers?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We are certainly aware of the impact, if work is deferred to a later period.

What we have put in place here is work that we believe can be done most economically at the current time in the current environment.  To the extent that work that we would have done through this rate filing is delayed or deferred until a later point in time, it then stacks up on top of the work that we would like to do at that point in time, as well.

So to an extent, yes, you are deferring work today to be paid for at a future date and time.  I think the Board has made it clear that -- and I think it is in a couple of previous rulings -- that while the economics are an issue, it is also system reliability and system maintenance that also needs to be taken into consideration.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, your application outlines a variety of ways where you are indicating that Hydro One's costs have increased prior to the past.  You are aware of that?  You have set out specifically it has increased in this area and that area and so forth, and your application outlines that; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.  There's several exhibits that show historical information, as well as against previously approved levels.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And is it fair to say it would be wrong for the Board to assume that the increase in costs that Hydro One has described in its application are a short-term spike, and that this is just a bubble and it is going to be over in the near term?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.  In light of the description of the increased costs that Hydro One is experiencing, that are set out in your application, I am suggesting to you that it would be wrong for the Board to assume that that -- those levels of increased costs, as described, are some short-term spike that are applicable to this year and next year, and that they're going to be decreasing thereafter.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  I think I understand your question.

I think, if you are to look at this, there are going to be other projects coming forward.  The Green Energy Act as it starts to roll out, I think one can expect that the work load and the work volume will increase.  And that's obviously what we will be asked to address.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean the simple fact of the matter is that Hydro One, both on the transmission side and on the distribution side, is a bigger company today than it was, say, a couple of years ago.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have added people and added resources in terms of being able to complete the work programs in front of us, and we anticipate those work programs will increase with the Green Energy Act.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you have -- in this application there's -- you are seeking an increase to your rate base.  You know about that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  We are effectively catching up on the rate base, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The Board shouldn't be under any illusion that that's a one-time increase.

This increase in the rate base is going to continue to increase for the foreseeable future; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you're correct.  The expectation is the capital programs will continue, and certainly if not at their current rate, at something that may be larger.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And at the same time that that is going on, you are not forecasting that you are going to be adding new customers at the same rate that you are increasing your rate base, are you?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We are assuming that our investments in the system will probably be greater than the number of customers that we would be adding, yes, in terms of growth rate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Again, if you view -- you are going to -- this increase in the rate base is actually increasing at a rate faster than you were forecasting your volumetric throughput to go up, or do you know?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Generally, that's the case, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to talk about the various ways in which I understand these increased costs are going to manifest themselves into the future.

One of them you've talked about, which is the Green Energy Initiatives; right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  There is a program associated with implementing the Green Energy Act.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The simple fact of the matter is that if people want to receive the benefits of these Green Energy Initiatives, there is a cost on the distribution system to facilitate that.  That's just the simple reality; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  There has to be certain changes, adaptations made to the existing distribution system to be able to deal with embedded generation, green generation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Leaving aside -- the green energy issue aside altogether, we've heard in the past and we've heard in this case that you've got an aging infrastructure issue that you are going to have to manage now and into the future; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  We're looking at improving the reliability of our existing system, and that's sort of the basis behind part of the plan that's being proposed here.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The consequence of that is that you have got a lot of capital assets that are either fully depreciated or virtually fully depreciated that are going to get replaced, and you're going to have new assets in there that have got new depreciation and amortization that are going to show up in your financials?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's going to be reflected in your costs and it will flow somehow through to your rates; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, you are not only -- obviously, the asset replacement process is an ongoing process; correct?  It's been going on for as long as Hydro One has been around; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  We have to replace existing assets as they come to end of life, and we also have to address increased load.  So, yes, there is an ongoing investment in assets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But there's issues around the rate at which you replace these assets over time.

And, directionally, aren't I correct that you are going to be replacing these aging assets at a relatively faster rate than you have been historically?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think I would characterize it as we will be doing the appropriate replacement of assets as they come to end of life.

If one was to look forward and say where would there be additional spending, it would be with respect to the green energy programs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I hear you on that, but the simple fact of the matter is that you have assets that are reaching end of life.  You have more of them, relatively speaking, today than you had ten years ago.  And since you're going to have to replace these things as they approach end of life, you're simply replacing them at a faster rate because of the vintage of your asset pool?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  Generally, I can to agree with you.  I think if you want to get into the details with respect to that particular assumption, then I think you should look at panel 3.  But, generally, yes, you are right.  We will be replacing aging assets, and there are more of them.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to use a simple -- and I will do that, but a simple example and something that is highlighted in your materials - I am sure you are aware of it - is your wood pole replacement program.  You know that one.  That is a specific example of this phenomenon; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, there are issues with wood poles.  There is also issues with some of the wood poles that were replaced, in fact, as a quality issue, and there are safety issues that come out of that.  So, yes, there are items we have to replace.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So going into the future, Hydro One is going to be doing more, if I can call it, units of work.  You've got a bigger work program into the foreseeable future; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's a fair assumption.

MR. STEPHENSON:  On the second side of the cost front is there's the units of work you're going to be doing, and then there is the cost per unit, if I can call it that.  And I want to just explore with you that issue.

The bottom line is that notwithstanding every effort you make to be efficient, isn't it fair to say that you've got every expectation that you're going to be facing cost pressures in terms of the cost of doing units of work; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  If you look at certain items, such as labour costs, our expectation at least on the unionized labour cost is that they would increase.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But also on the component front, right, in terms of you buy a lot of components that go into your system, whether it is transformers or -- all of that stuff, and you're facing cost pressures on all of that, as well; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  So if you look at some of the commodities that we buy, such as copper and other items, including equipment, to the extent that other people are in the market replacing equipment or rebuilding systems, we are obviously in there trying to compete in order to get those products.  It's based on market demand.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Generally speaking, your costs on that front are increasing at a rate faster than the general rate of inflation; fair?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, may I suggest these questions really are better or more appropriate for panel 3.  I know they're at a fairly high level, but you are going to get -- this is the chief financial officer of the company.  He knows about the poles, but the people on the next panel know all about the poles.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not actually asking about the poles.  I am talking directionally here at the most macro level.

MS. NOWINA:  And I expect that you are pretty well finished that line of questioning, are you, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I have a couple of more, but this question, for sure, this man is the best person to ask.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Proceed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another area that affects your costs going into the future will be issues about your short-term debt rate, your long-term debt rate and your return on equity; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I am going to leave aside the issue of the Board's report on this issue, since I haven't read it.

I have read it, however, to the extent that, as I understand it, the interest rates as they were reflected in the long Canada bond are still going to play some role in that process.  I will ask you to just accept that for purposes of this question.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That is true, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the bottom line is that those rates continue to be -- at the present date are at historic lows; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the bottom line is we should have no expectation, going forward, that they're going to go any direction other than up; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That's a fair assumption.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So that will manifest itself, inevitably, in higher costs and higher rates going forward; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  A broad assumption, yes, that's correct.  Part of the issue is whether there will be a tightening of the spread between Canada bonds and commercial bonds.  To the extent that there is, then our borrowing rates may remain the same or roughly the same.  It depends.

MR. STEPHENSON:  They're not going down?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It's unlikely that they will go down.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  So I guess the question where I want to return now is:  Directionally, going forward from today, the Board should be operating on the assumption that when you come back here, whether it is two years hence or five years hence, directionally, we are going to be facing a situation where you are going to be, number one, a bigger company; fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We will be a bigger company from an asset perspective, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You're going to have in global -- in the most global sense, higher costs; fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I will argue that we will try to maintain our cost structure as low as possible.

There obviously are increases associated with inflation, there are obviously increases associated with labour costs, but the intent here is to run the company efficiently and at as least cost as possible.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am not for a moment, you know, suggesting you are not going to make best efforts on this, but I think we spent 10 minutes on at least different four ways your costs are directionally going to be higher in the future than they are today.  Fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It is fair to say that we will be under cost pressure, absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So if -- if the folks that raise with you the issue is that you got to defer work because you got to defer costs, because we've got tough economic times, isn't it fair to say to those folks that the consequence of doing that are as follows.  Number one, the work will have to be done; correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The --

MR. STEPHENSON:  If not today, then sometime in the future?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The work that we're proposing to do today is the most cost-effective way to do that work.  To the extent that work is deferred, the costs associated with it may be higher.

So for example, the vegetation, to the extent you defer that to a longer cycle, you are dealing with higher costs associated with clearing sort of acres.  It is easier to deal with low shrub rather than high shrubs or trees.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And even if it costs the same amount to do tomorrow -- and that is a notional tomorrow, two or three years down the road -- even if it costs the same amount, you are going to be deferring those costs from today's cost environment into a cost environment which is likely -- has every likelihood of being an even higher cost environment.

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is more than likely, given that they there will be HST applied, that my expectation is cost of power would go up as well, so yes, it's --

MR. STEPHENSON:  We are not moving from -- we are not -- this is not a world in which there is the opportunity to shift costs from a high-cost environment to a future, relatively speaking, lower-cost environment.

If there is a shifting going on, it is going to be from today's cost environment into an even higher-cost environment in the future.  Fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  In all likelihood, you are absolutely correct.  It will be more expensive in the future than it is today.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it you are aware, at least at some level, that the government has spoken on numerous occasions about how important it is for people to see the true cost of power that they consume?  You are aware of that general language?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I am aware that the government's intention is for people to understand really what it does cost to produce power, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And would you agree with me that if you -- if we're in a situation where we're simply deferring costs from today's cost environment to a future higher cost environment, that objective will be defeated to some extent?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry.  You have to repeat the question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.  If the objective is for people to see the true cost of power they consume, to the extent we're deferring simply for the purpose of mitigating today's rate impact, that objective will be defeated?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly, the cost of power and the costs that are on the Hydro One bill that is presented to consumers today, time-of-use rates will make that more apparent as to how you use power and the costs associated with it, and those are coming early in 2010.

Deferring it into the future, I think, given the process, given the way that we are consulting and communicating to our customers, I think people will understand that there are increased costs in the future.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But let's put it this way.  If customers are going to get a short-term, shall we say, break, by virtue of not including all of the costs that you are seeking to put in today, because we're concerned about the rate impact today, at a minimum, those customers should be advised that the cost of that break they're getting today is that they're going to be facing even higher rates in the future.

I mean isn't that the full, plain and true disclosure that customers should get?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The Energy Board will decide in its ruling as to what is the appropriate amount that the customers will be charged back with.  But to the extent that work is being deferred from today and needs to be done, or will end up resulting in a higher need for that to be done in the future and it becomes more critical for us to do it, then those costs will be deferred into the future.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.

Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. DeRose.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I am asking questions on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

Perhaps -- well, what I would like to start, and given what the cross-examination you've just been led through on the dangers of deferring work, I would like to start with Issue 1.5.  And just to remind you, that issue read:
"Is the overall increase in 2010 and 2011 revenue requirement reasonable, given the impact on customers?"

Mr. Struthers, as a policy matter, has Hydro One considered what steps it would take if the Board, in fact, concluded that your revenue requirement is unreasonable, given the impact on client -- on customers for 2010/2011?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe that we have at the time.  I think we're waiting to hear back from the Energy Board as to what their ruling would be.  And if there was direction in that ruling, then we would be looking at adhering to that direction.

MR. DeROSE:  So you were -- I take it you were aware that this is an issue on the Issues List?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I am aware it is an issue.

MR. DeROSE:  And so Hydro One, being aware of that issue, hasn't considered what would happen if the answer of this Panel was "no"?  I find that surprising.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We look to the Panel for their decisions as to what would -- what they determine is going to be a fair and an appropriate review of the request we're putting in front of them.

We have a work plan that we think is appropriate.  We understand the impact to our customers on that work program.  We believe, however, that it is an appropriate work program and the work needs to be undertaken.

We will obviously have the direction of the Board to consider when they come back with their ruling.

MR. DeROSE:  I appreciate that you will respect what the Board rules on.

I am -- I guess just to be clear, there was no consideration of a contingent -- steps or mitigation steps that could be taken if the Board says "no" to that issue?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, we don't plan for contingency from the perspective of how much the Board may reduce our revenues by.

I don't have the ability to foresee what the Board will rule.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, you started off your evidence in-chief yesterday, addressing the possibility of a variance account with a rate adder.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that not, in part, one type of contingency that Hydro One would react with to this very issue?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, to get back to that particular item, as I thought I clearly had indicated, that what is important for Hydro One to be able to undertake work is to understand that it has the cash flow to do so.

What we were proposing here was, I think, trying to solve an issue that the Board had with respect to some uncertainty, and trying to propose a solution that would provide both the equity for us in order to be able to undertake the work, be able to fund it, and also provide the Board with some certainty that that work had been undertaken.

MR. DeROSE:  And would the variance account and rate adder that you have proposed or that you have in mind, would it have the effect of mitigating the impact of the revenue requirement increases on customers for 2010 and 2011?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I just go back to the rate adder concept for a second.  I think the issue was around the uncertainty of that particular work program, and that was what we were trying to address with that particular item.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, for --

MR. STRUTHERS:  So to answer your question on the rate adder, the answer is it should end up with the same result, right?

So what we get at the end of this is a reconciliation between what was actually spent versus what was asked for.

MR. DeROSE:  Panel, if I could have you pull up Undertaking J2.2?  This is Exhibit J2.2.

This was asked for on Tuesday, and, at the time, Mr. Rogers indicated that this would be the panel that could --

MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry to interrupt, Mr. DeRose, but, Mr. Millar, I don't believe the Board Panel has received any of the undertakings.

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  We should have copies here.  Let me find them for you.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.
[Mr. Millar passes undertaking responses to Board Panel Members.]


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, go ahead, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, in this undertaking, in the response, it identifies for externally funded Green Energy Plan costs.  During Mr. Millar's cross-examination yesterday, the distinction -- there appeared to have been a possible distinction between Green Energy Act costs and Green Energy Plan costs.

Is that a distinction that has meaning to you, Mr. Van Dusen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think, sir, on hindsight, the better way to have described it would have been direct costs associated with the Green Energy Plan and indirect costs associated.

I guess the point we were trying to make is the direct costs that were in our application associated with the Green Energy Plan were articulated in Exhibit A-14-2, and I think, as correctly pointed out by Mr. Millar, throughout our evidence we make reference to the Green Energy Plan or the Green Energy Act being a contributing factor to some of the changes or increases.

I would describe those as indirect impacts.  As an example, if you have more employees on the payroll, then you may have additional costs in the HR function to service those employees from payroll stubs, from enquiries, from setting up special benefits, or whatever.  It is that indirect cost.

I think it would have been better characterized that way, sir.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So the calculations provided in J2.2 for scenario A and scenario B only include the direct costs; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  They only include the direct costs, and, quite specifically, sir, we indicated that they quite specifically include $139 million of cap-ex in 2010 and $236 million of cap-ex in 2011.  That's how we understood the undertaking as given to us.

MR. DeROSE:  And scenario B is the 185 and the 331?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  The second scenario also takes a look at the Hydro One customer-funded costs.  When we took a look at the transcript, we were a little -- not quite certain whether you wanted just the one or the other, so we gave you both, because it was easy enough --

MR. DeROSE:  We certainly appreciate having both.

Are you able to tell me what the indirect costs are?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think that question -- not specifically, no.  We don't have information filed in this proceeding which indicates the indirect costs.

Certainly panel 3 and panel 4 witnesses can talk about the indirect costs that have been driven in their area, but we haven't specifically identified them or calculated them or put them together.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if I asked panel 3 and panel 4 what the indirect costs arising out of the Green Energy Act are and add those two together, will that give me, at a high level, a reasonable estimate of the indirect costs arising out of this application from the Green Energy Act?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess what I'm saying, sir, is they could give you some specific examples.  I don't think they could be any more specific in terms of the exact dollars.

There are a couple of circumstances in evidence where we were able to give the Board, in response to a few interrogatories, a high-level estimate of the impact of the Green Energy Plan in certain areas.

There was an estimate given, I believe, for the asset management organization in one of the interrogatories.  I believe indirectly the customer care group also provided information in an interrogatory response.

What I'm suggesting is panel 3 and 4 could give you anecdotal examples -- more than anecdotal -- give you examples, real examples, of how the indirect costs are being driven.  I am not too sure it is possible to pull those all together, because they're interwoven into the fabric of how we do our work.

A large work program requires larger support costs.  It is the larger work program which is driving it.  It is hard to disentangle green versus non-green, specifically, in all circumstances.

MR. DeROSE:  And so...  Okay, I will move on from there.  That's fine.

Now, as a matter of policy, does Hydro One agree that both the direct costs and, to the greatest extent, the indirect costs that are created or flow from the Green Energy Act should be transparent to its customers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm not quite sure what you mean by "transparent", sir.

The direct costs are explicit.  The indirect costs are part of this application and are in front of the Board, and the witnesses can talk to their specific areas in terms of the indirect impact.

All I am suggesting to you is that they may not be able to -- in fact, I am sure they won't be able to give you in all circumstances specific dollars.  A larger work program drives larger costs.

There are other factors, other than just the Green Energy Act, that are driving larger costs.  We have talked about the sustainment program and the need to increase the sustainment program.

So there are other factors that are leading to increased work program, which, in turn, tends to drive some increase in the indirect costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Well -- and just on that point, in terms of the direct costs that flow through to your distribution rates, you are correct in the evidence; that's clear.

But the externally funded costs, to the extent that those are flowed back to your distribution customers through the global adjustment, is that -- that is not something that's in the evidence, is it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is, sir.  Just one second and I will give you the interrogatory reference.  If I could take you to the response to interrogatory H-13-2 and if I can take you to page 8 of H-13-2, in response to (h), part (h), I believe we provided a response there, sir.

MR. DeROSE:  Just give me one moment and we will pull it up on the screen here.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So there up on the screen now we show the entire revenue requirement to be funded by external customers.  We have also provided the share that we've paid for of Hydro One customers, and then we have given the distribution impact and the total bill impact.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

And to the extent that -- okay, that's fine.  I will move on.

If I can now have you turn up E1, tab 1, schedule 1, I have some questions about your revenue requirement, and specifically if we could start at page 3 of 5.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, we have that.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, if we look at table 2, we have your 2008 Board-approved revenue requirement of $986 million.  And I believe that this is in the evidence, but would your -- in 2009, your revenue requirement through IRM, would that have been increased?  Do you have a number for what your revenue requirement was for 2009?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not specifically revenue requirement, sir.  The 2009 IRM process applied a factor to revenues, so we do have that number.  Panel 5 would have that detail in terms of what the number is for 2009, in terms of the revenue, but this was the difference between the last approved revenue requirement, which is the 2008, and our 2010 application, as you have correctly pointed out.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I take you to table 3, and it shows the total difference of 116.


Now -- and another 114 in 2011.  Now, these two revenue deficiency amounts, these are not full-year deficiency impacts, are they?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  First of all, they're not deficiency impacts, sir.  They're changes in revenue requirement.  And second of all, yes, they are full-year impacts.

MR. DeROSE:  So the full-year deficiency impact for 2010 would be $116 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The full-year revenue requirement change is $116 million, sir, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And for 2010, can you tell me what the revenue deficiency would be if we exclude -- well, first of all, I take it it's not possible to tell me what the revenue requirement would be if we excluded all Green Energy, direct and indirect Green Energy Plan costs; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  When you -- if you excluded all of the costs, obviously the external-funded amount, the $8 million and the $30 million would not be there.

And the revenue requirement impact of the amount that Hydro One's share that we bear, I do have that information.  I could give it to you, sir.  One second, please.

I believe the -- if you look at the Green plan revenue requirement, the amount funded by Hydro One, it is approximately $14 million in 2010 and approximately $20 million in 2011.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, 14 million in 2010 and how much in 2011?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Approximately 20.  I am rounding, but those are the numbers.

MR. DeROSE:  So does that mean that if I look at table 3, that the components of change to revenue requirement, if -- if we exclude or -- if we exclude -- if we take off the 14 million so that we're at 102 million, that that's your change in revenue requirement, excluding Green Energy costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And ten the same thing for 2011, subject to check; if we take the 20 million off the 114, so we are at 96 million, that's your proposed change to revenue requirement, excluding Green Energy costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would have to take a look at the numbers.  I would have to check them, because you now have a reduction in table 3 that I have to take into account in the change in table 4, so I would have to do the arithmetic.  I just don't have a calculator.

 MR. ROGERS:  Let me just make clear that we're talking about direct Green Energy costs, I think, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Only talking about the direct costs; you understand that, Mr. --

MR. DeROSE:  Yeah.  My understanding was that we could not -- that you were not able to calculate the indirect costs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  Yes, we are very clear on giving you direct costs.

MR. DeROSE:  And so is that something that you would be able to calculate for us, showing what the -- well, really what I would like is the components of change to revenue requirement for 2010 and 2011, excluding all direct costs associated with the Green Energy Act.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's something that could be done.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Can we take an undertaking number, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  J4.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  To provide components of change to revenue requirement for 2010 and 2011, excluding all direct costs associated with the Green Energy Act.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  And, Mr. Van Dusen, I don't want to sound like a broken record, but I take it on the indirect costs you are not able to even provide an educated estimate on what the indirect costs are?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir, I'm not.

MR. DeROSE:  So you wouldn't know whether it is a thousand dollars or 10 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't know the answer to your question, sir.  I'm sorry.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you know if any of the panels would have that information or be able to provide any type of estimates to that extent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I did indicate that there are select examples of Green Energy indirect costs that are already filed in the evidence.

Asset management and customer care are the two examples that come to mind.  I'm sorry I don't have the references for you, but I could give them after lunch.  And those are a couple of examples where they were able to provide high level guesstimates of the indirect impact, so --

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  -- could bring it up specifically with them, if you thought it was relevant.

MR. DeROSE:  And perhaps I will do is just indicate that I think those type of high-level estimates I will be speaking from the subsequent panels, so we can consider that as a heads-up for the upcoming panels.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. DeRose.  I am just going to interrupt for a moment.

But in your -- what you are calling the direct costs of the Green Energy Plan, that does include some amount of indirect costs that have been -- that are going to be capitalized?

For example, like when you do investments and you do capital projects, there is an allocation of indirect costs, is there not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, Ms. Chaplin.  Thank you for pointing that out.  I should have mentioned that.

The overhead capitalization process would attribute to all capital projects, Green or non-Green, funded internally or externally, an appropriate amount of overheads to them.

So you are absolutely correct.  There are indirect costs captured in the Green -- in all of the capital programs, Green and non-Green, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So the Green Energy Plan costs that are set out in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Two.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Two.  Is actually including -- it does include some indirect costs?  Is there some other bucket of indirect costs over and beyond those, that are not being capitalized to specific projects but still exist within the organization?  And those are the ones that can't be quantified?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  With a slight hesitation, I will say no, there are not.  Those indirect costs are captured through the overhead cap.  There may be one or two very small areas.  I would have to think about this over break.

I don't want to say I am absolutely 100 percent sure that the answer is:  No, you are absolutely correct, that all of the indirect costs are captured in an overhead cap.  I am just trying to think if there would be any circumstance where that wouldn't happen.  I am not sure there is.

But -- so I would say yes.  For now, I will say yes, they're all captured in the overhead cap.  And if I am wrong, I will come back and let you know.

MS. NOWINA:  Including the ones that we can get more information from the panels 3 and 4 on the asset management and customer services?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yeah, so just to give you an example with respect to the asset management organization, asset management costs are part of the cost-allocation methodology where asset management costs are split between TD, OM&A and capital.  And the amount that goes to capital is captured through the overhead cap rate.

But what they did is they made a high-level estimate of -- trying to look at a high-level estimate of what -- of what that impact would be on asset management; just specifically, they tried to do that.  But it's a high-level estimate; it wasn't a precise estimate.

If you wanted to back into an indirect cost, I guess you could back in through the overhead capitalization process, but that would be backing into it.

MS. NOWINA:  But it includes it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  So if you were to count it, if you were to calculate it otherwise and add it to those amounts, you would be double-counting?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, you would be double-counting, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In the evidence there is a -- just by way of perhaps an example, there is an indication that there are increased customer care costs associated with distributed generation.

Would those costs have been subject to this capitalization process?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's the one area, that's the specific area where I have to check.  I believe the answer is yes, and I'm sorry I don't know that, but I believe the answer is yes.  If it's different, I will let you know.  I believe they're captured through that.

Sorry, to be clear, it's the OM&A costs, the OM&A costs in the common areas that are -- that are -- some portion is allocated to capital.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. DeROSE:  And just to follow up on that, on the high-level estimates that you have just discussed, those high-level estimates have not been included in your calculation of the direct Green Energy costs that are contained in your plan; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, they are not.

Well, they -- they have been attributed to it by the overhead capitalization rates.  So every capital dollar that you see in the Green -- in the direct Green Plan has some form of overhead applied to it.

So I guess in that notion, the indirect costs are already thrown in there and they're in already, the Green Energy costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  To go really -- I will try to make this specific, then.

You have told us that in 2010, the direct costs are 14 million.  Does that 14 million include the overhead capitalized costs that have been used on people's best estimate?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir.  That 14 million is OM&A costs.  What I am referring to are the capital costs that are included in the Green plan.

Those capital costs have attributed overhead.  The overhead they have attributed is overhead from the common-cost units.  And some of that common cost units have these indirect costs associated with the Green Energy Plan.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry to confuse things further.  Isn't the 14 million a revenue requirement number, not an O&M OM&A?  I think you might be speaking at cross-purposes.

MR. DeROSE:  I thought the 14 million you told me was a revenue requirement number.

MS. NOWINA:  So it would include both aspects.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, yes, the 14 million.  I was referring back to the Green Energy Plan specifically where they break out the OM&A and capital.  So the $14 million is a revenue requirement number.

MR. DeROSE:  And if it is a revenue requirement number, that includes the overhead capitalization which you have just described and the estimates that were used for that?

MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps would you like to think about it over lunch, Mr. Van Dusen, and clarify at that point?

MR. ROGERS:  I just wrote down a re-examination question, so that might be a better way to do it.

MS. NOWINA:  It might serve us better.

MR. DeROSE:  I am fine with that.  I would just like the numbers.

Now, panel, just in terms of -- as Mr. Thompson indicated earlier this week, one of the -- one of CME's interests is assessing the impact on Hydro One customers and the impact of all the costs that are going to flow through from the Green Energy Act, not just on distribution, but on the various line items of the bill.

In that regard, for 2010, your transmission rate increases, that already has been subject to Board approval and is public, is that right, for 2010?

MR. STRUTHERS:  For the current year, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  And would you be able to just provide for the record -- my understanding is you do have a calculation that shows a dollar per kilowatt-hour estimate for 2010 for what you call the average distribution customer or the average customer?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, sir, our 2010 distribution rates have not been approved.

MR. DeROSE:  No, no, transmission.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, transmission.

MR. DeROSE:  Transmission.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry.  I don't have that with me, no.

MS. CHAPLIN:  There was one -- two outstanding items.  So that decision -- there was a decision rendered for the 2010 transmission rates with the record held open for the consideration of four capital projects.  That decision is outstanding.

There were no other -- all other items for the 2010 revenue requirement were established.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I will leave this perhaps for the in camera and I will describe to you what we're hoping to obtain in camera, and you may or may not be able to give it to us.  I will defer it, if that's okay.

Well, just so that you know what we're looking for, what we would like, just to try and provide a high-level understanding of what the impact will be both for transmission and distribution, we're going to be asking in camera for -- if it can be provided, a dollar per kilowatt increase, the estimate of what the dollar per kilowatt increase would be for the average Hydro One customer arising out of the 2010/2011 transmission case.

Now, I understand that's going to be in camera and I am not sure whether that is something you can provide at this time, but it is something we will ask for in camera, so that we can assess the impact of the distribution increases, in conjunction with the transmission, to understand what the impact would be for the average Hydro One customer.

Now, panel -- and just to confirm, Hydro One customers currently, in addition to your distribution and transmission charges, pay the global adjustment; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the best of my knowledge, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  So there are certain costs which are flowed through from OPG and the OEFC and OPA that flow through the global adjustment to your customers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly commodity costs and the costs that you mentioned flow to our customers.  I'm not too sure whether it is through the global adjustment; that's all.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If I could just have you look at Exhibit K2.6, this is a presentation that the IESO made to the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters on December the 2nd, 2009.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have the document.

MR. DeROSE:  And if I can have you just turn to page 10?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We are there, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And you will see that the IESO has provided on the right-hand side -- it is somewhat faded, but it shows a dollar per megawatt-hour of total global adjustment costs.

Can I assume that -- well, does Hydro One take issue with the accuracy of IESO's numbers here, if CME wishes just to rely on that as an indicator of the costs that are flowing through to -- through the global adjustment?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, are you asking whether these are the numbers that would flow through to a customer?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I believe they are.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I will, subject to check, take your representation they are, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  We're simply relying on the IESO.  So subject to check, if we don't hear from you, we do intend to rely on those numbers.

A final question, and then, Madam Chair, the rest of my questions would be in camera, so this will be my last question.

With respect to allocation of the global adjustment to the extent to which that would be debated in this hearing, I just want to confirm with this panel that that's something that would be dealt with in phase 2 somewhere in January and not today.  I just don't want to lose my opportunity.

Maybe that is a question to Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think the terminology, with respect, may not be correct, but if you are talking about the division between the direct green energy costs, which will be recovered from Hydro One customers, as compared with those collected from all -- province-wide customers, that is, I understand it, to be done in January.

Hydro has proposed a split, but the Board is going to have a separate process to deal with that in January.

MR. DeROSE:  I just wanted to make sure that I am not losing my chance to ask questions about that.

MS. NOWINA:  That's my understanding, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  That's good enough for me.

Madam Chair, I am in your hands.  What is your preference?  It is five to 12:00.

MS. NOWINA:  We will break.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So we will break now and resume at 1 o'clock.  We will have Dr. Woo when we return, and resume with this panel when we have completed the examination of Dr. Woo.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:53 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:08 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I would like to introduce to the Panel Dr. C.K. Woo, who is a witness on rate matters.  And I wonder if he could be sworn.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.
SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION - PANEL 1


C.K. Woo, Affirmed


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I first would like to qualify the witness as an expert, although I understand my friends are not objecting to his expertise.  But I will give you a brief summary.  And then I have a brief, maybe five-minute direct, to set the stage, and then my witness will be open for cross-examination.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.
Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Woo, you have for the last 17 years been a senior partner at Energy & Environmental Economics, a consulting firm?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And prior to that, you were a professor of economics at City University of Hong Kong?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a Ph.D. in economics from UCal Davis?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And a M.A. in economics from Queen's and a BCom from Concordia; is that correct?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have published extensively in the area of rate design and related issues?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is a list attached -- of refereed publications attached to your CV that goes on for quite a number of pages.  This is a list of your publications?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you been qualified as an expert in rate design and cost allocation issues in any jurisdiction?

DR. WOO:  Yes.  I have testified before the California Public Utility Commission on rate design and revenue allocation.

And also I have testified before the British Columbia Utility Commission on the design of industrial rate options.

And also, I have testified in front of this Board back in 1999, 10 years ago, on the first Distribution Ratemaking Handbook.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Subject to any questions from the Panel, I would like to present Dr. Woo as an expert in rate design and cost allocation.

MS. NOWINA:  No objections?

MR. ROGERS:  No objection.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Woo, what is the purpose of your expert testimony here today?

DR. WOO:  The purpose here is that, well, I have been retained by the School Energy Coalition to review Hydro One's consultant's report on the use of density-based cost allocation.

And also, I was asked to comment on how Hydro One should respond to the Board's directive in the last case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what have you concluded is the appropriate approach to this particular problem?

DR. WOO:  Well, what I have found is that, to perform a customer split, you know, so as to achieve costs-reflective ratemaking and also, you know, reasonable apportionment of costs, one may not just use one single split as if that is the first try and that's the answer.

One needs to look at various ways of how to cut up the customers.  May that be density-based or maybe something simpler, such as just, you know geographically-based, urban versus rural.

And once we have done that, and then you look at the resulting cost allocation and the associated rate -- rates, and by looking at the whole picture, one may get a better understanding how the future ratemaking for Hydro One might proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The cost allocation exercise you're talking about, how is it -- how should it be accomplished if the utility does not have complete cost information on a locational basis?

DR. WOO:  Well, let's separate out what cost data would be available on a locational basis and what's not.

My understanding is that Hydro One may have the asset data, the locational base; for example, transformer, lines, feeders.  And given that those are, you know, tied to area-specific locations, then one can use that information to proceed with, you know, a cost assignment.

The problem may arise is with the O&M cost data, because as I understand it, there's only one set of books and you just record the OM&A and G costs.  So that will present some problems.

And absent, you know, let's say, quite a bit of effort to track down exactly how the O&M costs may accumulate, one may need to use, you know, supplemental information.  For instance, you know, the one that I have found is the cost benchmarking study coming out from the Board's consultant, you know, that was released last year.

And in that, you know, study, that would allow one to make use of the co-properties of the cost data and do the allocation accordingly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you expand on that a bit?  How would you do that?

DR. WOO:  Well, for one, to start out, suppose we, you know, are interested in allocating, you know, O&M costs by certain urban definition.  And then once we have done that, then you can classify customers in the urban area vis-à-vis the rural areas.

And those customers would have a set of characteristics.  And also, the urban area would also have certain electrical properties, such as, well, what's the amount of underground line, or like what's the load growth have been.

And benchmarking studies allows one to insert those values into the statistical models, and perform a fairly straightforward computation so as to determine the cost differential between rural area vis-à-vis urban area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now --

DR. WOO:  And the same approach can be done on the -- for another type of definition, such as like density-based definition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Woo, you filed a report that discusses this at length; is that correct?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was this report prepared by you or under your direction?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And does this have an exhibit number, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe it does, Mr. Shepherd.  We had a look through the materials, and we seem to have not given it an exhibit number when it came in.  So perhaps we could just mark it in the context of today's proceeding.  And that would make us now at Exhibit K4.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  Document entitled "Expert report on Hydro One Distribution's density-based rates prepared for the School Energy Coalition (SEC)", dated October 29, 2009, by Dr. C.K. Woo


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


And the type of use of benchmarking that you're talking about, is that included in your report?  Is that discussed in your report?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So finally, what was the basic conclusion of your analysis after looking at this stuff?

DR. WOO:  Well, I think Hydro One should collect data and perform the cost-allocation analysis that considers alternative customer splits.  You know, it can be a fairly simple split, just urban/rural, or maybe a little bit more sophisticated, you know, with the consideration of certain density characters.

But at the end of the day, it is necessary to obtain a full picture of the alternatives customer split, how they relate to cost reflection and how they relate to the eventual rates.

And once we have that, then one can, you know, more informed about what to do going forward, in terms of both setting the rates and how the tariffs may be simplified, hopefully.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The report of Dr. -- of Mr. Todd of Elenchus said that such an enquiry is complex and difficult to do.

What is your view of that?

DR. WOO:  Well, I think a lot of that has to do with data availability and the, you know, willingness to consider practical alternatives in the absence of perfect data.

So I have done, along with my staff and partners -- you know, do this type of work assuming reasonable amount of data would be available, and we can do that in a few months, two to four months.  And it is a matter of looking through the records and collect the data, and that's the most tedious part of the work.

So is it doable?  Yes.  Can that present some challenge?  Depending on the quality of data available in a particular utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I have no further questions in direct, and the witness is available for cross-examination.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Can I ask?  I assume, Mr. Rogers, you're going to cross-examine.  Anyone else beyond Mr. Millar wish to cross-examine?  Mr. Buonaguro?

Anyone else?  Mr. Crocker?  Maybe.

MR. CROCKER:  Maybe.

MS. NOWINA:  Would it make sense, given the nature of the evidence and the position taken, that, Mr. Rogers, you go after the other two examiners?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I think that would be the normal procedure, and that's what I thought we would be doing.

MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Buonaguro, we will start with you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.

DR. WOO:  Good afternoon, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have to tell you I just noticed something and I was wondering if either you or Mr. Shepherd could help me with it.

The version of the report that's being put on the monitor, it says October 2009.  The one that I am using, which I got off of the Board's website, says October 29th, 2009.  So it looks like the cover page, at least, is different.

Is there anything other than that that I should be concerned about?  I am assuming it is the same report and there is just a numbering error on the front page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The one I am using, which I think is the one that we filed, says October 29th, 2009.  I don't have a copy that says October 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So something about the way it is appearing on the monitor -- you see the one on the monitor?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Board Staff has brought that up, so I will ask them.

MR. MILLAR:  This was included -- Hydro One put together a compilation of all of the evidence and we simply put that onto a stick, and I am blaming Mr. -- it's their fault.

MR. ROGERS:  It's our fault.

MS. NOWINA:  Does it have your comments in it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask Hydro One what other amendments they made to it?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is okay.  I just noticed that there is different versions floating around.  I think it may just be the cover page.

MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we should be alert to it as we refer to different passages.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We do appear to have the one that says October 29th, Madam Chair, so Mr. Thiessen has put that on the monitor now.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's use that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's helpful.

All right.  I am going to start with page 9 of the report.

DR. WOO:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  About two-thirds of the way down, it is the first -- or third paragraph, last sentence, you say:
"To the extent that the urban/rural cost difference is large, urban/rural rates should follow the principle of fairness."

And I just want to key in on the term "cost difference" and confirm that when you're talking about cost difference, are you talking about a per unit cost difference, i.e., per customer or per kilowatt-hour, as opposed to a total cost difference between urban and rural?

DR. WOO:  Just one second.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I ask that because if we're assuming that the per-customer or per-kilowatt-hour rate between urban and rural are not different, then there would be no purpose in making extra rate classes.

DR. WOO:  And I think that is true, because if cost of service on an average dollar per kilowatt-hour basis, and it turns out that all of the customer would share the same amount, then it would obviate the need for all of this geographic differentiation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  That's what we thought.

And would it be fair to say that the cost differences between urban and rural would vary depending on the definition one uses for urban versus rural?

DR. WOO:  I think so, because you would be looking at a different group of customers.  For example, if you want a very stringent urban definition, they're only including the town centre vis-à-vis, let's say, the boundary of the township, then you are talking about very different group of people.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would you agree that from a cost causality perspective, the objective would be to define the split so as to maximize the cost difference that's, I guess, made clear through this split?

DR. WOO:  Yes, if that's doable.

For example, for the work that I've been doing, you know, back in the days, you know, for PG&E generic case, all the way up to now, the work that I have been doing for BC Hydro, when you're trying to split up customers, you know, one would like to have, let's say, a cost assignment to each individual customer on the most aggregated basis first.

Then after that, then one would perform a statistical analysis, depending on how many groups you are interested in, one or two, three, four, however that might be, and then you would like to put customers with similar costs in the same group.  And then I saw, like, that the customers outside that group can be seen, as at least with some justification statistically, there's a fairly significant cost difference.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Would you also agree that there is an issue of whether one actually proceeds to define and implement rates based on the definition that you determine of urban versus rural, and that some of the considerations about whether you actually proceed and implement them would be things like bill impacts and other things?  I think you refer to it in answer to VECC interrogatory number 5.

DR. WOO:  Yes.  Because, for example, suppose that we're really only interested in cost causation and, in particular, interested in, let's say, efficient ratemaking.

Then one would immediately jump into locational real-time pricing very fast.  But is it really the only consideration?  Probably not.  There are other criteria engaging the performance of a rate design.

For example, one has to consider:  What is the rate impact?  Is it substantial?  You don't want to nail just a small group of people just because, like, historically they have been treated somewhat differently under this strict cost reflection basis.

And there are also, like, major considerations, such as like ease of tariff administration, customer acceptance and customer understanding.  And, as a result, even though Ontario Hydro has, you know, its only hourly price market, but that hourly price market signal does not necessarily translate into hourly prices for a lot of small users.

So that's why you have, you know, this averaging ratemaking.  You take the average price and price it accordingly.

So the cost causation is one of, I would say, several criteria.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I want to ask you to turn to page 15 of your evidence.

DR. WOO:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  As I understand it, this is the part of your evidence where you set out your seven-step process for determining rates?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you agree that you can use this method to split costs between rural and urban regardless of what definition you determine for urban; i.e., once you have -- you can have any definition for urban, and once you have that, you can go ahead and apply the rest to the steps?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And assuming that one has settled on an urban/rural definition that one is going to implement for rate-setting purposes, and having gone through the allocation, is it fair to say that the distinction between urban and rural, in terms of cost in rates, would apply to all types of customers?


And by that I mean you would have urban rates and rural rates, and within those two subcategories, it would apply to all of the urban customers and all of the rural customers, so that would encapsulate residential, commercial, industrial customers in the urban area, and then the same counterparts in the rural area.

DR. WOO:  Well, that one, one has to be somewhat careful.  For the residential and small commercial, probably that is true.

But let's say for large industrial customers that are served at the, you know, transmission level, I'm not so sure that is necessarily true, because I, you know -- if the bulk transmission cost does not really vary by urban/rural because it is way up, you know, on the supply chain, then I -- that statement would not be -- I would not necessarily agree with that statement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think you're telling me you wouldn't agree with that statement on the basis there may be an exception, and that --

 DR. WOO:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- some customers may be served directly by the transmission company?

DR. WOO:  Right.  I mean I -- you know, to the extent you go through your allocation, you assign your costs, you look at the costs even within the -- let's say, a particular customer class.  For example, general service, rural versus general service.  Urban, to the extent that there's a cost difference, yes, you set, you know, different rates for them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just -- I want to be clear.  Are you agreeing with me that generally speaking, all the distribution customers in the rural area would be affected by your allocation, and then all of the rural customers in the rural area would have a corresponding different rate, based on their having been situated in the urban versus the rural?  You would have two sets of rates for almost all of distribution customers?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  With a possible exception of customers who actually aren't served by distribution?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, are you aware that Hydro One Networks only has density-based rates for residential, general-service small and general-service large customers?

DR. WOO:  I briefly reviewed the tariff.  So I cannot say I am an expert on it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

DR. WOO:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you see any reason why density or locational-based rates should be limited to those classes, and not applied to the rest of the classes, notwithstanding the exception you pointed out, which would be customers that aren't served by the distribution company?

DR. WOO:  I think like this has to do with, you know, well, how one would look at how, you know, many customers are really dealing with...

Like for example, let's say the rural urban ratemaking would cover 95, 97 percent of the customer base already, and on top of that, you look at the risk and the cost differential is not that big.  You know, it seems to be an administrative burden to proceed to make it just because you have certain, you know, urban/rural distinction for some classes that necessarily translate to everyone, especially you recover a huge, you know, portion of the customer base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So I think what you're telling me is that for example, it may be the case that one of the classes that appears in both the urban and rural setting, for that class, the cost differential between the urban and rural turns out to be immaterial?

DR. WOO:  Right.  If it is a small number, then I, you know, I would not advocate to specifically make that two sets of tariff, you know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I think you would agree as a matter of principle, it would apply equally to all of the customers, and then if there are things, practical concerns like materiality, you might take it as not splitting the class?

DR. WOO:  Exactly, you know.  You -- I think one should go ahead and do the analysis first, before making those judgment calls afterwards.

I mean, I -- without, you know, doing an analysis, it would be imprudent on my part, you know, to make any of that type of calls or make any suggestion on those calls.  Only, you know, when you get the data in front of you, then everyone can talk about it and debate over it, you know, probably in a regulatory setting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that in principle, one could use your approach to determine the costs for the customer groupings, using Hydro One Networks' definition of density-based areas?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any reason why the Hydro One Networks grouping shouldn't be tested to determine whether it yields a better cost differentiation than your urban/rural proposal?

DR. WOO:  Well, I think it should, you know.  And in particular, you know, in response to the Board's directive in the last, you know, the ES decision, the Board was quite explicit about testing it out with different definition on the density criteria.  And, you know, I am just taking that one step further.

If you are going to do all of this density-based rates, perhaps maybe it is simpler, easier -- more easier to understand.  And I don't believe I am at odds with the Hydro One's consultant report.

So with that in mind, one should look at various customer splits, and find one that is a fairly - performs fairly well in cost reflection, and then once you have done that, and then you look at the other properties of it, is it simpler?  Does it make it easier?  Or like, you know, I personally believe that if one can reduce the number of schedules out there, I consider that's a big plus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to take you to page 14 of your evidence.

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here at table 3, you have set out an example?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I want to take you through a slightly different version of the example.  I went through it with your counsel to make sure that I understood what I was doing, because it is a lot of math involved.

Basically, in this other example you would have two areas, and in the second area you would have 10 percent more customers, so total number of customers, it would go up by 10 percent, at 10 percent more volume under megawatt-hours and 10 percent more line kilometres, 10 percent more assets, basically.

And going through, if you make those three changes to the example, so basically you are increasing the customers, the load and the assets, what you end up doing to the example is -- I want to make sure I get this right.

I'm sorry.  I have to find -- I have a slightly amended version of this that I have to --

DR. WOO:  Would it help if I just like go through --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

DR. WOO:  -- you know, why I make those hypothetical percentage difference first?  And then you can adjust them any way you want, and we will go from there.  Would that help?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, I've got it.  I've got it here.

DR. WOO:  Okay.  Good.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, though.

My understanding is if you make those three changes --

DR. WOO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- you have a cost differentiation, and the cost differentiation is calculated as a 4.91 percent increase as a result of the increasing customers, a 3.66 percent cost increase as a result of the increase in total megawatt-hour volume, and a 0.94 percent increase in costs as a result of the increase in total line kilometres, for a total cost change of 9.21 percent.

Does that sound right?

DR. WOO:  If you change the total line kilometres from a minus 10 percent to a plus 10 percent and you add them up, yes, you are right.

 MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in this example, the costs would have gone up 9.21 percent, where the customer count in volume would have increased by 10 percent.

And that means that you would have a lower unit cost per customer or per kilowatt-hours for the larger area?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would that be a fair -- or would it be fair to say that this is reflective of what we've referred to as economies of scale, in some of our interrogatories, particularly VECC No. 6?

This has demonstrated the economies of scale?  Yes?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

DR. WOO:  I will put increased by one percent, and yet your total cost increased by less than one percent, that is a reflection of economies of scale.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in VECC No. 6, we asked whether these economies of scale should be reflected in the rate differences between the two areas, the rural versus urban.
You said that it would be reasonable to account for the differences.

I would like to understand what you mean by "account for the differences".  Would these economies of scale be worked into the cost allocation between locations and reflected in the resulting rates?

DR. WOO:  By virtue of using, let's say, like, the regression results portrayed in table 3 on page 14 of my report, once you have done the computation, it will naturally show up as the cost difference.

So there is no additional adjustment to be done.  I mean, like, for example, you go through that -- let's say the urban area is systematically 10 percent more, and then you use that calculation as illustrated in my report.  And that difference will capture the inherent economies of scale already.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I understand.  I think you're saying that when you talk about accounting for the differences in the answer to the interrogatory, in fact you're saying your methodology automatically accounts for those differences?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.  That's embodied in the benchmarking study itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I believe or I understand that under your methodology OM&A costs are split between urban and rural using the benchmarking model developed by Lowry, Getachew and Fenrick for the OEB?  That's in your evidence at page 15; correct?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.  That's on the assumption that Ontario Hydro does not have any O&M cost data differentiated by location.  So if they have that, then you don't need to go through this exercise.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My understanding is that the key locational-based parameter in your equation is 9 kilometres; is that correct?

DR. WOO:  That's one of the variables.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And you suggest the capital costs could be split using either the same percentage or using a more specific analysis that looks at the capacity values for stations and line kilometre value for each area to allocate assets?  And that is at page 18 of your evidence.






DR. WOO:  That's correct, because if you have the primary data source to do the calculation and the allocation, it is unnecessary to rely on supplemental information to do the cost split.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have an exhibit to file.  It is -- it was provided presumably to Dr. Woo through counsel probably yesterday.  I have copies.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is Exhibit G2, tab 1, schedule 1 from EB-2007-0681 at page 2, and it is just -- it sets out from Hydro One's last case the way that it incorporates density weighting factors.

MR. MILLAR:  Call that Exhibit K4.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  EXHIBIT G2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1 FROM EB-2007-0681, PAGE 2.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, what was the exhibit number?

MS. NOWINA:  K4.4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So my understanding is that this exhibit demonstrates how Hydro One currently incorporates density and locational considerations into its cost allocation.

Are you familiar with this methodology?  I guess the question is two parts.  Were you familiar with it before I gave you the excerpt; and, now, having given you the excerpt, do you feel comfortable with the way that they do it, even if you didn't know before?

DR. WOO:  Well, I read it.  I can only tell you that I understand it, you know, just as it's stated on the page, and I tried to verify it, actually, you know, convert the words into some algebra so that I can appreciate what's going on.  And I think the description reflects what one might - someone like myself - would do, given the data.

So the mechanics of it is okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would you be comfortable -- do you know enough about it to comment on the merits of this particular methodology or would there be more work to do?

DR. WOO:  Subject to check.  I mean, I will be imprudent to make the heroic jump to say that I really understand what is underlying these two paragraphs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Based on what I have provided, can you see any reason why the Hydro One Networks method couldn't be used to split costs between an urban and rural definition of customer classes that you proposed?

DR. WOO:  Well, from reading from line 7 to line 19, apparently there are -- they have the information to show that -- you know, the location of the line and the feeder location.  So that, I think, would give you enough information to assign customers based on a density definition of the lines and the transformers.

Aside from that, my only comment on these two paragraphs is that, you know, to the extent that they're net book value for lines, then probably the two computations should be consistent, because if you look at the transformer, they say, well, they use net book value, and for lines they use the physical lines.

But as far as the costs, all lines are not very high cost, because most are depreciated, while new lines cost a few more dollars on the bulk.  So you are going to do the embedded cost allocation once to properly attribute the net book value by location, also, to the extent that you can.

And that's why, in my expert report, I try to lay out at least age information.  From what I have seen from the utility data, the age usually is there.  But whether they keep track of the net book value, maybe not.  So...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that different allocation approaches -- so, for example, you have your allocation approach versus Hydro One's -- Hydro One Networks' allocation approach, and different allocation approaches would yield different results in terms of the cost differential to be attributed to a particular definition of urban versus rural?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, accordingly, depending upon the cost allocation method used, one could come to a different conclusion as to what is the preferred way to define an urban versus rural split?

DR. WOO:  I think, like, until you see the numbers in front of you, it is very difficult to make that judgment call.

I will give you an example.  I just have gone through a customer implementation study for BC Hydro on their ongoing large general service rate class.  So you have customers ranging from 35 kW all the way to someone who is close to 10,000 kW.

Now, then the next question is, like, they want to split up those customers into different segments so that you can revise the rate without severe bill impact.  And there are many ways to cut it up.  I mean, do you want five segments, four segments, three segments, two segments, and where is the dividing line on the adjacent segments?

So until we have gone through the entire exercise, one can -- it is very difficult to pick what might be an appropriate cost allocation.

I mean, doing cost allocation in this narrow space does not -- it doesn't match linearly that way, until you see the entire thing in front of you.  Then you can say:  Okay.  All of this together makes sense, the cost allocation, the pick, the selection of the divide, customer split, and then I look at the, you know, rate impact.

And until then, we can make an informed judgment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I think your answer, if I understand correctly, is that you would accept that different cost allocations applied to the same urban/rural definitions would give you -- could give you different results, and therefore from a cost causality perspective, as the first step of the analysis, might give you different cost differentials, and that that step could be one -- could give you different views on whether that rural/urban split is better than another urban/rural split, based on the cost allocation used.  But that you would have secondary or tertiary considerations after that fact, like what we talked about at the beginning of my cross, i.e. bill impacts or number of different classes or other considerations.

I kind of jumbled that up, but...

DR. WOO:  No, you know, you're not.  You're very eloquent.  Probably more eloquent than I am, you know, given that English is not my first language.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We are not in camera, right?

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  We are not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

DR. WOO:  So let's step back --

MS. NOWINA:  All of your fans heard it, Mr. Buonaguro.

DR. WOO:  Like -- if I try to be helpful, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

DR. WOO:  So let me step back and see what -- I will give a better representation of what I meant, because I -- obviously, I have stumbled through this myself, and so I have been struggling, so -- I have been struggling the last 25 years.

So think about it in our head as a mental exercise.  Let's say look at this room.  We have this -- all this set of people here.

And assuming that C.K. Woo somehow, you know, knows everyone's, you know, money in their pocket.  Let's say like I can calculate the costs of serving each customer, and fairly accurately at the lowest level, individual customer.

Then I say:  Look, I want to cut up this room full of people into two halves.  Not necessarily two halves, but two groups, let's say.

So what should I do?  Going back to what you just said, it's like, you know, you group customers with similar costs, put them in one group.  The rest, put another group.  And hopefully, you know, the way you group them will try to maximize the cost difference on average between the two groups.  So that is step one.  So like that is a fairly objective, mechanical way of doing things.

That's not much a judgment call there, because you go through this statistical exercise of clustering.  You know, so they will tell you what it is.

But having a clustering result does not lead to geographic differentiation or density differentiation, because I -- what it says in the clustering is quite different from when you apply the criteria.

Let's say I say:  Everyone on the right-hand side is urban; everyone on the left-hand side is rural.  But in fact, the clustering results tell me that, yeah, maybe most of the people should be urban, but there are a few lingering over here that should be actually in another group.

So with that in mind, then you compare the criteria you pick in splitting the customers up, and how to benchmark against the initial analysis when you have detailed data, full freedom on grouping people based on cost difference and cost similarity.

So that would give you some guidance in how to cut it.

Then, let's say, like suppose you want to do something different, use density.  You go through the same kind of exercise again.  So it's not -- how would I put it?  It's not totally arbitrary.

But having done all of those, then you've got to march on and say:  What is the implication?  Suppose I pick, you know, a particular allocation or customer split resulting in certain class allocation.

Once you have done that, there is a whole bunch of implications there; the rate impact, you know, the customer acceptance, or is it like under whatever notional equity one may use, for example, like, you know, in BC Hydro's case, they considered rate designs equitable, so long whatever the class revenue remains, you know, the class revenue responsibility, there is no spillover to another class.

So to sum it all up, is it black magic?  Or is it there's some scientific, you know, essence to it?  It is somewhere in between.

So because I -- when one adopts, you know, a set of rates, implicitly there is a lot of judgment call in there.  And who is going to make the judgment call?  The utility would make some judgment call, the intervenors would make some judgment call, and they'd all bring it in as their opinion and filings.

And who is the judge doing the final arbitration?  The people sitting over there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  The Board's indulgence just one sec, please?

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Go ahead, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Just briefly, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Dr. Woo, from your evidence, I am getting the feeling that your views are much more flexible than they appear in your report.  And I just want to canvass one area; I think only one area.  It will depend on your answers.  For the purposes of what you've done, how have you defined municipalities?

DR. WOO:  There are two ways of going about it, you know.  One is that you just, you know, use whatever's being used by other Canadian utilities; that will be like any incorporated, you know, city, township with 2,000 people or more.  That's the one starting point, okay?

Another one would be like, you know, go back and look at a Statistics Canada's definition, you know.  It will be an area with, what, 1,000 people or more, with a density of 400 kilometres.

So, again, kind of like:  I'm glad that gentleman asked me a whole set of questions.  It is like all of this -- we need to look at and test it out, what would be a meaningful customer split, you know, so that you can capture cost differences while simplifying rates, while not having too much of bill impact on anyone.

So for me to jump in to say:  This is the definition, I don't think I can do that, because I am not informed about the implication of that definition.

MR. CROCKER:  So you would agree with me, then, that it would be arbitrary and wouldn't suit your purposes to assume the -- the definition which is in place, for instance, in Ontario now, where in some cases, for instance, there are very, very large municipalities in terms of geographic area, with very, very, very small population?  I think of Timmins as an example.  There are others.  Huntsville is another one, and there are others.

DR. WOO:  Right.  I think I -- one has to be careful in that -- now, let's say we, you know, adopt one particular, you know, definition, just for the sake of an argument.  You go through it and you look at it and you say:  That's kind of silly, you know.  I mean the results will look at you and say:  That's a dumb selection unless you have some language to -- you know, in the tariff to address that towns are not -- not every town is the same, obviously.

And my suspicion is that having lived in Canada for a few years, towns along the US-Canada border probably are quite a bit densely populated, and geographic size-wise probably not as big as those up north somewhere.

So those are the kind of issues that one might encounter when dealing with this so-called rural/urban.  You may need to change it in some way, and, maybe at the end of the day, this rural/urban rate-making idea may not work for a utility with such a huge geographic coverage.

I'm not saying what I am -- that rural/urban rates necessarily are, you know, a priori, de facto, per se dominance.  But until you look at it, I don't see why -- at this moment, why we prejudge and exclude that consideration.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Dr. Woo.  My name is Mr. Rogers and I have introduced myself to you earlier.  I act for Hydro One in this case, and I want to take advantage of you now that we have flown you up here.  I would like to ask you some questions about your analysis.

First of all, I gather, from what you told us and from what is in your report, that you prepared your report after receiving Mr. Todd's report, which was commissioned by my client?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And, in fact, you commented on his report and that was part of your mandate?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  One of the recommendations that he made -- well, let me put it this way.  He suggested several alternatives that ought to be further studied before deciding how the customer classes should be designed; correct?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And one of his suggestions was that analysis should be undertaken and examination undertaken of a split of customers based on municipal boundaries?

DR. WOO:  I believe that that's in his report.

MR. ROGERS:  And you took up his report -- one of his suggestions, and that is one that you put in your report as something worthy of further consideration?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I see, all right.  You have helped us a good deal already today talking about your attitude about this split, and I think I understand your position a little better now and I am glad you stated it.

You're proposing that one possible way of doing this and something that should be studied is that we have a class of customers which are municipal, and that the other class of customers be rural; correct?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And as you've explained to us, you proposed that one way of defining the municipal boundary would be to take -- or the municipal class would be to take all of those customers found within the municipal boundary lines of a municipality over 2,000 people?

DR. WOO:  Yes.  That's based on the tariffs of other Canadian utilities already practising urban/rural rate making.

MR. ROGERS:  There is one other, New Brunswick, I think, isn't it, that uses 2,000?

DR. WOO:  Yes.  There are a couple of others.  That's in my report.

MR. ROGERS:  It could be 3,000 or 5,000?

DR. WOO:  Exactly.

MR. ROGERS:  Is one of the reasons that you choose that approach as the starting point because you believe that municipal boundaries are kind of a proxy for density for the benefits, the cost benefits, of high density areas?

DR. WOO:  Well, it is not necessarily in that way.  All I'm getting to is that, you know, taking this urban/rural split probably is an easier way for customers to understand the tariff.

Now, is there a direct one-to-one correspondence in the necessary density-based customer split vis-à-vis urban/rural split?  I don't know.

I mean, for example, you know, coming back to my earlier discussion, here's a room full of customers and you want to cut them up in two parts.  Whether it is based on density or based on municipal boundaries, they may go coincide.

MR. ROGERS:  They may what?  Sorry?

DR. WOO:  They may coincide.  They may coincide, or they might have some small differences.  But until you do the work, we don't know that.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  So it could be that if an analysis were undertaken of a proposal based on a municipal class over 2000 people in the municipality, you might come up with the same result as the present Hydro One density approach?

DR. WOO:  I might.  I wouldn't exclude that.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  So there is no certainty by doing all of this effort -- we will talk about how much is involved, but we may be no better off when we finish than we are now?

DR. WOO:  There is always that possibility, and certainly, like, until we do that work -- I mean, when I look at this, it's to say if you do this work, suppose -- let's say -- you know, say you came up with an optimistic estimate or whatever my best estimate of the effort required turned out to be somewhere in the ballpark, and yet you are doing, you know, rate design for how many customers?  I think like that's, like, what?  About a million customers involved?

And I think this is something that is a very worthwhile pursuing if you can simplify the rate or if you can make the rate --

MR. ROGERS:  I don't think we disagree with that, and I think that is what Mr. Todd is recommending, too, isn't it?  This is one of the alternatives that ought to be further considered?

DR. WOO:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  By the way, I notice in your testimony, in your report - and I think you said it again today - you referred to the Bonbright principles that we all are familiar with, and suggested that Hydro One's present cost allocation -- or density-based rates, rather, could be simplified to urban/rural rates, as you and I have been discussing; right?

DR. WOO:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  The reasons that you give at page 3 of your report are that this would observe the principles of acceptability.  By that, you mean customer acceptability; right?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Lack of controversy, that would be basically the same thing.  It's sort of lack of controversy among customer groups as to the allocation; right?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And the third is the ease of understanding?

DR. WOO:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  That would be the ease of understanding of the customer groups who are affected by this?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  I take it, then, you would agree that a utility in designing its rates ought to consult its stakeholders and customers in the approaches that are to be undertaken?

DR. WOO:  True.

MR. ROGERS:  And you know that happened in this case, that Hydro One did have a consultation process with its stakeholders representing its various customers?

DR. WOO:  I am aware that happened, but I did not, you know, review the consultation myself.  So I will just accept --

MR. ROGERS:  Accept that it did.  And you would applaud that effort on the part of my client, wouldn't you?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, maybe that is going a step too far.

MR. ROGERS:  I didn't ask you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I'm saying that's --

MR. ROGERS:  Unless you get in the witness box.  I have been waiting to cross-examine him for several years.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  Now, with your counsel's help there, Dr. Woo, can you answer my question, please?

DR. WOO:  Would you repeat the question?

MR. ROGERS:  Just this.  You agree that it was a good thing for my client to do, to consult its customers, before embarking on rearrangement of customer groupings for cost allocation purposes and ratemaking?

DR. WOO:  I am missing the front end.

MR. ROGERS:  Simple.

MS. NOWINA:  It is just the clarity of speech, Mr. Rogers.

DR. WOO:  I hate to be, you know, like, hiding behind my second language problem.  If you make it clear, I will give you a very short answer.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, I think I am the culprit here.

A utility should consult with its customers before changing its customer classifications; don't you agree?

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And a utility should try to ensure that whatever it does meets -- has acceptance among its customer classes, if possible; its customers?

DR. WOO:  Well, that's true.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  In this case, my client consulted with its customers, and then embarked on a course of action.  You understand that, don't you, through the stakeholdering?

DR. WOO:  What I don't understand is:  Was the simple rural/urban split was on the table for discussion, or was it like just don't look at that one, don't worry?  Like, here are the choice number 1, choice number 2, choice number 3, but not that one.

MR. ROGERS:  Dr. Woo, we already have determined that Mr. Todd, who prepared a report for the company, has proposed exactly your proposal as one of his alternatives to be further examined; is that right?

DR. WOO:  You are confusing me now.  Maybe I am not keeping track of this line of enquiry.

I thought you are still referring to the customer consultation portion of the discussion.

If you are referring to customer consultation, was the rural/urban split part of the consultation, that, I don't know.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.


DR. WOO:  Okay?  So now you did a switch on me on the change of direction going forward, to the best of my recollection, yes, going forward that is something to think about.  And I agree with you.

MR. ROGERS:  Okay, fine.  That's a rare event, so let's keep -- I will take that.

DR. WOO:  Yes.  I am just trying to, you know, concentrate.  I mean like to me this morning, I woke up at 4 a.m. California time, so I am just trying my very best.

MR. ROGERS:  You are doing fine, Dr. Woo.  And I won't be much longer.  Thank you.

I just want to get the benefit of your advice while you are here.

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You also said in your evidence in-chief, I think, that the various alternatives should be discussed in some type of process, for example, an OEB-sponsored process, which dealt with different alternatives.  That would be a -- that would be a good thing to do?

DR. WOO:  Absolutely, I think so.

MR. ROGERS:  And are you aware, sir --

DR. WOO:  More transparent and wider participation.

MR. ROGERS:  Right, and it would be unwise to make any kind of a change until that type of process was completed, wouldn't it?

DR. WOO:  In order, you know, for that process to be effective, the participants need to know what they are processing.

MR. ROGERS:  I agree.  Fair enough.

DR. WOO:  So I think like that study still needs to be done, so that people understand what they are processing, going into the process.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand that the Board does have a process now that has -- it is extant.  It is still in existence, although there has been a lot of things for the Board to do, but were you aware there is a process, EB- 2007-0031, which is, I think as I understand it, intended to examine this whole question of customer classes and rate design?

DR. WOO:  I would not be familiar with that, definitely not that detail quotation.

MR. ROGERS:  You would agree with me that it would be unwise to change customer classifications and rates if it was possible that a year or two down the road, after this process that the Board has underway, were to change those results to a different allocation process?

DR. WOO:  I would not say that would be a total waste of time, you know, if that's what you mean, because whatever we have, you know, let's say Hydro One go out and do a diligent -- and I am quite sure it will -- do a diligent cost allocation analysis, that information will fit into that process

MR. ROGERS:  You misunderstand.  I agree with that and --

DR. WOO:  I think like it would be useful, you know, to do that, whether like, let's say, take those results and implement; it's another issue.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  And that's my point.  I --

DR. WOO:  Yeah.

MR. ROGERS:  You would advocate that this should be -- the various alternatives should be studied, and then after a public consultation process, preferably with the Board's supervision, a decision be made as to how customers should be classified and what the rate design should look like?

DR. WOO:  Yes.  I think, like, you know, because I -- I would be -- how will I put it?  I would not be acting, you know, in good conscience if I would say:  Do the cost allocation study, implement the rate except without going through a public consultation, because that's the kind of thing that I, you know, I have been doing for BC Hydro.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  That's --

DR. WOO:  It's, you know, not a one-month or two-month process.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

I think probably my client has substantial agreement with your position, then.

Help us with a couple of other esoteric points.

If we were to divide customers into municipal and non-municipal classes, what would you do with Hydro One customers who are now served by Hydro One but reside within another municipality?

DR. WOO:  Let me see whether I understand this question.  I just want to picture this, you know, situation first.

What you are saying is that there are customers, now actually, even though they're Hydro One customers, but they are inside another utility's service territory?

MR. ROGERS:  Correct.  I am told that is fairly common, the municipal boundary.  I'm sorry, the municipal boundary of another -- okay.  I'm sorry.  I see the confusion.  No.

Let's suppose you have a Hydro One customer who is served by another utility within a -- the same municipal boundary.

DR. WOO:  Okay?

MR. ROGERS:  All right?

DR. WOO:  So like what you are saying is that, let's say, there is a city called C.K. Woo.  Left-hand side is Hydro One; right-hand side is Toronto-Hydro, let's say.  Is that an accurate description?

MR. ROGERS:  I think so.

DR. WOO:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  Would you see any problem with the fact that a customer, one customer living within the same municipality would be charged a different rate because -- by the two utilities?

DR. WOO:  No.  That happens all the time.  I mean I, you know -- because, for example, I can tell you that Sacramento municipal district, you know, they serve the Greater Sacramento, and also a lot of area they started annexing to some of Sacramento that used to be served by PG&E.  And you can be like one street over, and you are paying PG&E rates, which is like my last look is like 15 percent more.  Not pretty, but that's reality.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  Are you aware that Ontario has a unique structure of delivering electricity compared to, I think, the rest of Canada, in which there are over 80 distributors delivering power, most of which are embedded in Hydro One's service territory?

DR. WOO:  I am aware of it, because of the fact I used to, you know, do work for Ontario Hydro, and then I also did work for, you know, OPG and I did work for Newmarket.

So I am aware of it, but am I up-to-date on all of the mergers and acquisition activities?  No.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't mean that.  Believe me, I would like to keep this at a high -- I am not trying to trick you up on detail, Dr. Woo.

DR. WOO:  Yah.

MR. ROGERS:  Does that -- does that affect your thinking at all in terms of what would be appropriate?

DR. WOO:  Off my head, no.  I mean I -- because I -- you look at it and say:  Well, maybe Hydro One might have a service territory consisting of non-contiguous geographic areas.

Should that be a concern?  Certainly, if they, you know, are very far apart.  Let's say like for example, I will give you an example.

Niagara-Mohawk, they have like east side of New York and the other part of the service territory is way the hell out on the west side of New York, and as a result of that, I think they have a difficulty of setting necessarily uniform rates for both areas when they are so far apart.

MR. ROGERS:  Are you concerned at all by the fact that if this Board were to select customer classes by municipal boundary lines, that those municipal boundary lines are established at the whim of politicians, which have nothing whatever to do with costs or electricity consumption?

DR. WOO:  Well, again, you know like that would be -- is to test out whether the -- just one set of, you know, customer split, to test out whether there are substantial cost differences.  Just as much as, let's say, you go along with the density-based cost allocation, the density threshold, I don't know how Hydro One picked those numbers.

Maybe it was like through careful thinking, or it is just also by historic, you know, coincidence.

So that is why we're here.  We are here to look at it and say:  Let's take a fresh look at it, and say:  Are they meaningful?

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I think you were asked this before, but some of the municipalities in Ontario are very big geographically, with very few people in portions of them.

DR. WOO:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  So just explain to me again how you would deal with that.  There are -- I think Timmins was suggested.  Sudbury is another area, I'm told, which is another big geographic area with very few people in a large part of that municipality.

How would you deal with that in your approach?

DR. WOO:  I think, you know, what one may go about here is that you start out with the definition used by Statistics Canada.  So like they will have the rural/urban area designated by the Federal Government.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, can I stop you there?  You're suggesting a better way to go is through Statistics Canada data rather than municipal boundaries?

DR. WOO:  Let me finish it.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.

DR. WOO:  If I can.

MR. ROGERS:  Of course.

DR. WOO:  So you start out with that, and that, like, will give you the rural/urban area definition as used by the federal government.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, do you know what that is, by the way?

DR. WOO:  I haven't looked at a map, but I can give you the link.

MR. ROGERS:  But is it 1,000 people?  How do they determine it?

DR. WOO:  Well, they say it is 1,000 people in an area where, with the density more than 400 people per square kilometre.

MR. ROGERS:  That sounds very much like the Hydro approach, although different numbers.

DR. WOO:  Yes, well --

MR. ROGERS:  Okay.

DR. WOO:  You can look then into the urban area, inside there.  What are the municipal boundaries that would fall under those?  But still, like, those are -- the numbers are fairly straightforward to see.

Then under that circumstance, then I think that Timmins issue, wherever Timmins is, may not exist.

MR. ROGERS:  It exists.  It exists.

DR. WOO:  I mean, this is a definitional issue.  All I'm saying is these are identification, definitional issues.  So I fully understand the difficulty we are facing here.

Hydro One is like the descendant of Ontario Hydro serving a huge geographic area, and that's why we have these type of issues here.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, fair enough.  Dr. Woo, you are aware, I think, or maybe not, that there is a class of customers which receives rural rate assistance in Ontario.  I think it is R-2.  Were you aware of that, first of all?

DR. WOO:  Well, if there's rural rate assistance -- yes, I am aware of it.  Not detail, but I heard of it.

MR. ROGERS:  Accept it from me that there is a mandated scheme whereby certain customers receive assistance.

DR. WOO:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  How would we deal with that under your proposal if there are only two rate classes?

DR. WOO:  Well, I think the -- is the rural rate assistance -- again, it just reflects my ignorance.  How does -- what is the eligibility criteria of the rural rate - Chinese doesn't have an R sound, sorry - rural rate eligibility issue?  How do you qualify that customer?

MR. ROGERS:  I am told that all customers who are classified as R2 get the assistance.

DR. WOO:  What is R2?  R2 doesn't mean anything to me.

MR. ROGERS:  Do you want to come over here and I will go over there?

DR. WOO:  Yes, I think if someone would help me out.  I mean, R2, what does that mean?

MR. ROGERS:  R2 --

DR. WOO:  It is fairly cryptic.

MR. ROGERS:  I think R2 is a rural customer of relatively -- a relatively low density.

DR. WOO:  Well, you can still continue that, you know, eligibility for assistance.  So I don't see why that would -- that should change.  Just as much like, well, the income tax might change, unemployment rate, unemployment eligibility doesn't.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, okay.  So you would have -- municipal urban customers and rural customers, and maybe somehow you define a classification of another class of rural customers that would get the assistance just like now, based on density?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, maybe I could just interrupt.  I am not sure that Dr. Woo is aware that rural rate assistance is a legislated activity.  So it is not a rate classification issue.

MR. ROGERS:  No.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it maybe he could have some assistance before he answers this sort of question.

MS. NOWINA:  That's a very good point.  Do we need to describe it in more detail, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I can try.  Dr. Woo, I don't want to make a big issue of this.  I just wanted the benefit of your advice here. You are here.  There is this R2 classification which, by statute, receives a subsidy, I guess you would say, to reduce their rates for societal reasons.

MS. NOWINA:  Now I am going to treat you as a witness, Mr. Rogers.  And the eligibility or the definition is set by legislation or regulation; i.e., the Board or Hydro One doesn't set that definition?

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, no, no, no.  It is all mandated, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  That definition is mandated?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  That's my understanding, yes.  It's been in place for some time.  I think it was designed to try and give rate assistance to probably originally farm communities, I imagine, but small density areas out in this big district that Ontario Hydro was responsible for.

MS. NOWINA:  And Hydro One has to have a way of identifying those customers.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's right.  Hydro One has to identify them.  Now they do it through the R2 classification.  I wonder if you had a proposal or suggestion for then as to how they could do it under your approach.

DR. WOO:  Well, I mean, you would have, let's say, urban/rural tariff.  There is a rider that you can, like, basically put a label on the bill, and then if you are, you know, qualified under the -- before you continue to qualify, based on the address, you know, where you are located, then I don't see that administratively that is an issue, because they have given them the subsidy now based on the address.

You continue to give that subsidy based on address.  So I don't know why that would be an issue, because if you think about it, that would be like, you know, certain cities that would be -- they would definitely have maybe a few of those customers straying out of there somewhere in the edge of the town and receive a subsidy.  And there is no difference here.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  I think I understand.

DR. WOO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I take it you haven't asked Hydro One - or haven't had an opportunity or haven't done it - to ask them for the level of costs that they have -- data they have available to accomplish what you are proposing?

DR. WOO:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Sir, thank you.  I think those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, very briefly, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon, Dr. Woo.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Staff here at the Ontario Energy Board.

I just want to confirm one thing with you very quickly and it may almost be a question for your counsel.  But as I understand it, you or, more specifically, the School Energy Coalition, is not proposing a new rate class or a shift in rate classes for the 2010 rate year; is that correct?

Mr. Shepherd, if --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  What about for 2011?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's up to the Board to decide how quickly it orders this -- the previous Board ruling to be complied with.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me follow up on that, then.  Dr. Woo, as you may be aware, Hydro One is currently in the middle of a rate harmonization process where I believe 88 existing rate categories are being harmonized into, I believe, 12.

Are you aware of that?

DR. WOO:  Yeah, I read about it.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is happening over four years, and I believe we are at the end of the second year now.  So that will continue, as I understand it, in rate years 2010 and 2011.  Are you aware of that?

DR. WOO:  Again, you know, I heard of it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can you help me with this?  Imagine the Board takes Mr. Shepherd's advice and asks Hydro One to hurry up with this and get to new classifications in time for the 2011 rate year.  I guess I have some questions as to how that could possibly be implemented with the existing harmonization that is already under way.

Do you have any insight as to how that might work or if it actually could work?  I am not sure it could.

DR. WOO:  Well, again, I think, like, what it is, it has turned out as -- how would I put it -- turn out to be the rural/urban type cost allocation upon the result of -- all you are doing is consolidating some of your current density-based allocation and simplify it.  I think it can work.

But if it's just, like, so different, dramatically different, I don't think it can work.  So it's a matter of, like, because like the rural/urban cost allocation, if anything, you reduce the categories.

So if they turn out to be taking, like, the so-called existing high density urban and some of the -- I don't know whether you use the high density, normal density rural, group it together, and the rest is rural.  I think it can work in that context.  But if not, then I suppose it changes -- a dramatic change in the customer split, no, I don't know whether that would work at all.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess your answer is it depends?

DR. WOO:  Yes.  Until you see the numbers, nobody can tell.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me, then, this would be certainly something that the Board would want to consider before ordering implementation of any new rate categories or shifting in the existing rate categories?

DR. WOO:  Well, the implementation, you know, time requirement and how that influence the schedules that are already set in motion, yes, those are pretty significant considerations.

It would not be necessarily a good idea, just because let's say suppose, you know, you turn out and you look at the cost difference, rural/urban, look at that.  Oh, okay.  Then you go ahead and try to do it.  You know, after you are mapping out the timeline, it doesn't match up, then like probably that is not something that one should push.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it's something -- you agree with me -- it is something that has to be considered?

DR. WOO:  Oh, yeah, absolutely.  I mean, you know, it is not -- how would I put it?  You know, change a rate schedule, it might sound simple and it turns out not to be the case.  I mean I just --

MR. MILLAR:  It doesn't even sound simple to me, so...

DR. WOO:  No, uh-uh.  Believe me, just the billing --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  All right.

DR. WOO:  Okay?  Just the billing process, from changing from a flat rate into, a, let's say, declining inverted plot rate, that takes a lot of effort.  Not easy; just the billing process.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

DR. WOO:  So this is like, you know, it's in that type of, you know, arena.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand that.  I think I have my answer, and I have no further questions.

So thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two brief questions in redirect.
Re-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first is, Dr. Woo, Mr. Rogers asked you about consultation, and so I will ask you:  Do you know whether Hydro One's consultation was done in an appropriate manner or not?

DR. WOO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And related to that, your proposal is that the Board should order the gathering and testing of data on various scenarios.  Should that be done before or after consultation, or both?

DR. WOO:  Oh, I think that that should be done, you know, before the consultation, so that you have something to consult with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. WOO:  I mean you have to do the work and you show the results and say:  You do it this way, here is the outcome; you do it that way, here is the outcome.

That's what I, you know, that's what we - "we" meaning like myself and my partners - did in all of the cases I ran for BC Hydro.  I personally did that, you know, back in '96 for BC Hydro and all of the industrial options.

You have something to show the people, then you can talk about it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then my last question is:  You had a discussion with Mr. Buonaguro with respect to your evidence at page 15, where you talked about the steps that you are proposing to get to appropriate allocation, and I guess I was a little confused after that as to whether what you were saying is that you settle on a final definition of urban/rural split first, or you test several definitions with data and then use that data to decide the final approach.  Which is it that you are proposing?

DR. WOO:  Well, my proposal is you've got to look at, you know, alternatives first.  And I, you know, it is not -- not possible to say that without knowing the alternative.  How do you know which one is better?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I have no other questions.

DR. WOO:  That's just not -- you know, that defies logic.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We are completed, then, with Dr. Woo -- oh, Board Panel.  No?

Thank you, Dr. Woo, very much.  And thank you for coming from California and getting up early.

DR. WOO:  Well, thank you for inviting me.  And maybe next time you can do it by video conferencing?

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  We may eventually get there, Dr. Woo.

DR. WOO:  I think that would be great.

MS. NOWINA:  Thanks very much.

All right.  We will take our afternoon break now, and then resume with panel 2 when we return.  Take 20 minutes.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:32 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:50 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Welcome back, gentlemen.  We are still on air.  Are there any preliminary matters before we go in camera for the examination of panel 2?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, there is one brief issue that I had opportunity to discuss with my friend.

The court reporter brought to my attention that when -- this is with regard to undertaking JX4.1, and I won't read it out for reasons that I will explain.  The court reporter asked if -- this undertaking was given outside of the in camera session, so it was -- it would be on the public record as things currently stand.

He asked that I enquire with the company as to whether or not the very description of that undertaking should be held in confidence.  I raise that with my friend, Mr. Rogers and Mr. Buonaguro, as well, because he asked for the undertaking.

I understand there is some concern on the company's part with the description of this undertaking being on the record.  So maybe I will turn it over to him, and I think Mr. Buonaguro may have a view, as well.

I guess the point is we may want to -- if the panel agrees that that is the appropriate thing, to take steps to get this description of the undertaking off the public record.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  As I advised the Board this morning, I am taking instructions over the weekend as to what, if anything, the company may wish to do about your ruling this morning concerning this document.

The description of the document itself is or may be considered to be confidential, as well -- just the revelation that such an analysis with the consequences exists is considered to be confidential by my client.  So I would be grateful if, at least until Monday, that description of the document could be on the private record, the in camera record.

I will let the Board know my position or my client's position on Monday morning about that.  You may decide that it is not appropriate at that point, but I would be grateful if you could, at least until then, keep it in confidence.


MS. NOWINA:  I am not sure of the logical implications of that.  It was embedded in the midst of a discussion that was --

MR. MILLAR:  I understand this can be done, Madam Chair.  I will speak with Mr. McKenna to ensure that, but he brought it to my attention.  I believe he can do it if that is the Board's direction.  I think it essentially would just be blacked out.

MR. ROGERS:  I think it occurred right at the point -- just seconds before you went in camera, I believe.  It is there in the transcript.

MR. MILLAR:  Before or after, I can't recall.

MR. ROGERS:  It was after?  Well, all the more so, then, after.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We can make that change.  I am not even going to go to Mr. Buonaguro, because I think I know what he is going to say.  We can do that for you until morning, but I have to say you have to give me a very good case why we wouldn't at least have on the public record that there is something we are going to examine in camera.

I would be very concerned about that.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand.

MS. NOWINA:  So I am prepared to hear your arguments on that Monday morning, and Mr. Buonaguro, if there anyone else that weighs in, but this may just be a remedy that we've got for the weekend.

MR. ROGERS:  Exactly.  It may disappear or at least reduce substantially.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  We will at this point go in camera for the -- sorry, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I think there were three small issues I just wanted to raise on the public record beforehand, if that's fine.

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.

MR. DeROSE:  First of all, before -- during the morning, you will recall that you gave Mr. Van Dusen the opportunity to assess whether the 14 million reduction in revenue requirement did or did not include components of the overhead capitalized costs.

MS. NOWINA:  That's right.  He was to think about it over lunch.

MR. DeROSE:  I thought we would --

MS. NOWINA:  Deal with that now, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I intended to deal with it myself.  I thank my friend for reminding me.  I was distracted by this other issue, but I think the witnesses are able, I hope, at least to enlarge upon it.

If I could just ask a question or two here?

MS. NOWINA:  All right.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2, POLICY AND PROGRESS (Resumed)


Alexander (Sandy) Struthers, Previously Sworn


Greg Van Dusen, Previously Sworn

Examination by Mr. Rogers (continued):

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Van Dusen, do you recall the discussion just before the noon break about these green energy costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. ROGERS:  And direct and indirect, and so on?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you, having now thought about it, help us as to:  What would the revenue requirement look like, but for the Green Energy Act?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can help you, sir.

So, Madam Chair, I apologize, I did get turned around a bit just before the break there, and I think I can be clearer now and answer the questions.

So the common costs are partly capitalized to the capital work program through the overhead capitalization methodology.

So some of the indirect costs we've been discussing would have been captured through the overhead capitalization rate.  Not all of the indirect costs would have been captured by the overhead capitalization rate.

If I could, Madam Chair, if I could take you to an example, I could show -- and take you through a very high-level mathematical example, it is in interrogatory H-7-62.  It is the second page of that.

In this interrogatory, we were asked -- and I think I've talked about this as one of the examples, where we did attempt to give an estimate of the portion of the costs of the asset management function in this case that were associated or indirectly associated with the Green Energy Plan.

If I can take you to the 2010 number where we provided an estimate of $6.2 million, so this is total asset management.  This is serving both T&D, and this is serving by OM&A and capital.  If you take a look, then, at the amount allocated to distribution, you see the figure of 3.1.

The overhead capitalization methodology, roughly speaking, would have taken about half of that 3.1 and attributed it to capital work programs across all of the capital work programs.

So if one was to take a look at a high-level estimate for this example, one would say the indirect costs associated with the Green Energy Plan in asset management, that remain in asset management, are $1.5 million, approximately.

There are two other small matters I would like to address, Madam Chair, if that's fine, on that item?

MS. NOWINA:  Unless -- Mr. DeRose, does that satisfy you?

MR. DeROSE:  I would suggest Mr. Van Dusen get everything he wants to get out, out, and then I will have a couple of follow-up questions, if that's fine with you.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The other question, Madam Chair, that I just want to be clear on and make sure that I didn't leave confusion before the break, I quoted to Mr. DeRose the figures of 14.5 million in 2010 and 19.7 million in 2011 - I think I rounded them to 15 and 20, perhaps - as being the Green Energy Plan revenue requirement that was funded by Hydro One.

I just wanted to take, Madam Chair, you and the rest of the participants to Exhibit A-14-2 and the very first page of A-14-2.

If I could take you to the table at the bottom of the page, I just wanted to be very clear where the 14.5 and 19.7 figures were coming from.  They are coming from the figures at the very bottom of the table.  You see 2010, the $13 million in OM&A to be funded by Hydro One, and then the $46 million in capital.

So the $14.5 million in revenue requirement is composed of that 13 million in OM&A, and then the return component on that capital.

And the 19.7 that I referred to in 2011 is made up of the $13 million in OM&A and the return component on the 46, which would have been in rate base, and then the portion of the 95, which would have been in the rate base during that year.

So I just wanted to be clear how those calculations were done.

I have one other small other, ma'am, if I might.  I believe, in discussions with Mr. Buonaguro the other day, I misspoke myself, and I think my counsel corrected me and I just wanted to say that despite the harm this does me, he was right and I was wrong.

You had asked me about the -- what would the adder be for the net Green Energy Plan costs, the smart grid costs plus the Hydro One costs.  I think I mistakenly told you, sir, it was all external costs.  I was wrong.  The figure I gave you in terms of the cents per kilowatt-hour should have just been for the smart grid and the net costs included in the plan that are at the bottom of this for Hydro One.

The figures I gave you, sir, were for 2010.  It is the 0.04 cents per kilowatt-hour and the 0.054 cents per kilowatt-hour.

So just to correct my error in that matter.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is all I wanted to say.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Van Dusen.  Mr. DeRose, do you have anything on those topics?
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose (continued):


MR. DeROSE:  Yes, just two points.  First of all, thank you for that clarification, Mr. Van Dusen.

This morning when we were talking about the 14-1/2 million now, and the 20 or 19.7, when I asked you about 2011 -- and I think the proposition I put to you was:  If you take the 20 million off and you get 96, is that what the revenue requirement would be?


You indicated that it wouldn't be 96, that you would actually have to take into consideration that you took the 14 million off in the first year.

And I believe you were going to provide those numbers, but I realize now, at the lunch break when I looked at my notes, I don't believe we actually asked for an undertaking for that, and I am wondering if we could just have an undertaking to clarify this position.  Perhaps the way I would put it is this:  At Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, reproduce table 3 and table 5, excluding the Green Energy costs -- actually we should say direct Green Energy costs for clarity.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Rather than take up time, it is easy to do.  We will do it via an undertaking, if that's okay.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  If we could have an undertaking for that, please.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  To reproduce table 3 and table 5 of Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, excluding the direct Green Energy costs.

MR. DeROSE:  And the one other question is, Mr. Van Dusen, your counsel put the question to you this way:  Can you address the revenue requirement, but for the Green Energy Act?

Short of going through all of the different panel-by-panel, issue-by-issue, trying to identify those indirect costs, I take it there is no global estimate or easy access to that answer, what is the revenue requirement but for the Green Energy Act, including indirect and direct costs.  There is just no easy way to get to it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Madam Chair, this was put to me by our legal counsel and Ms. Frank as well over the break, to see whether there is any way I could do a really high-level ballpark estimate.

I put my mind to it, and I will caution and caveat these until the cows come home, if I was given an opportunity to talk long enough, but I think you understand.

I did a high-level estimate, and if you take a look at all the areas in the evidence where we reference impacts from Green Energy and make some high-level assumptions to the extent that the information is not already provided, I think I would guesstimate that there is between 10 and 15 million dollars of indirect costs that are -- remain in Hydro One's revenue requirement.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Van Dusen.  That is very helpful.

And just to make sure they understand that, 10 to 15 million, very high-level, of indirect costs, that would include all of the indirect costs that -- for instance, the asset example that you just walked us through, that would be all encompassed in that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  I've gone through the evidence, and this is generally speaking across all of the areas, so that's -- once again, with the caveats, but that is my best ballpark estimate, sir.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Well, thank you very much.  That helps me immensely.

The final point, Madam Chair, and I hope I don't look like Chicken Little saying that the sky is falling on this, but I just wanted to -- on the cost of capital issue, this is the panel for cost of capital.

I have gone back to the evidence at lunch, and noted that the way that the evidence reads is that the 8.11 percent identified in the application will simply be updated based on the cost of capital report.  So the way that the evidence reads, it sounds -- I think Hydro One could -- could take the position that it is just formulaic and we don't have to deal with it in the hearing.

But I am concerned that the report came out this morning, and I think certainly at the very least, looking at as expects such as cost impacts, the impact on customers, what is this going to do to the revenue requirement, et cetera, is an issue that may or may not have to be addressed in this hearing.  But I suspect it would have to be.

And I am also a little bit concerned that I look around the room and I don't see a lot of intervenors asking questions on this.

So I would -- I guess I am really trying to protect myself, that I think Hydro One needs to take time to read the decision and advise how they intend to proceed, and I think, in all fairness, the intervenors need an opportunity to read the decision and respond to how Hydro One --

MS. NOWINA:  That is my expectation, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  I fully expect Hydro One to read the cost-of-capital policy and for all of the intervenors to read the cost-of-capital policy, and if there is a change to this proceeding required or requested, that you will make submissions on it, as early as Monday morning.  It would be great if we could deal with this Monday morning, but I recognize it is -- we are heading into the weekend and people may not be able to prepare submissions by then.

So we can -- I will take your comments on when you might wish to do that.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I was just going to say I was hoping not -- hoping to avoid bringing these people back, Mr. Struthers in particular.  Mr. Van Dusen will be here.

And I think I can tell the Board that, as I think was stated earlier in evidence, that it was the company's intention to update for the most current cost-of-capital formula at the time that the rates were being -- revenue requirement was being finalized.  I think that is still their intention.  They haven't read the decision yet, but we are assuming that is what it requires them to do.

And if there are any questions about what the rate impact of that might be, I'm pretty sure the witnesses could probably give an answer today.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, let me first -- if that is Hydro One's position and you don't need the weekend to think about it or any further time to read the report, then I would suggest that other parties, knowing that that is Hydro One's position, could make submissions on that position Monday morning, rather than take any further time today.

MR. ROGERS:  Unless there is something in there that really is different from the past process, I think that is the company's position.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to clarify.  So am I hearing that it is Hydro One's position that they will be applying the new cost-of-capital report in asking for that impact in this hearing?  And if we want to know what the impact is, we should ask?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  That's what I heard.  So is it fair to say you want to know what the impact is?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well --

MS. NOWINA:  I am rather assuming someone is going to ask that question.

MR. BUONOGARU:  Somebody is going to ask that question.  I would have thought that the company would want to know what the impact is before they asked for it from their customers.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Madam Chair, maybe I could be of some help.

We have run some preliminary numbers against the OEB direction this morning.  If I was to tell you the 2010 revenue requirement would increase by $45 million, so that's four-five million, and 2011, the increase would be 30 million, so three-zero.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  So there you have it.  I think the intervenors have enough to prepare submissions for Monday morning.  Is that fair?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, it was my understanding that the intervenors were going to meet some time on Monday to discuss this issue.  And so it may be premature to ask, in my submission, for our submissions on Monday morning.

I think the intervenors would appreciate -- at least from our point of view -- we would appreciate an opportunity to meet with the other intervenors, discuss the situation and then be prepared to make submissions, I guess, on Tuesday.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  That's fine.  Let me put it this way.

Right now, the proceeding is still going ahead as planned.  The paper outlines a formulaic approach which can be applied.  So if intervenors wish to bring any submissions about the scope of the hearing, do that when you are ready to do it, but recognize that the later you do it in the proceeding, the more difficult it may be to accommodate, assuming that we think it should be accommodated.

MR. ROGERS:  The last thing I will raise -- I should have done it earlier, I apologize -- but we took the liberty of releasing panel 3 this afternoon, so they have gone.  We have panel 2 --

MS. NOWINA:  Given where we are, Mr. Rogers, I  think --


MR. ROGERS:  One of the witnesses --


MS. NOWINA:  -- that was probably a wise decision.

MR. ROGERS:  One of the witnesses had a very long drive.

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.  That's no problem.

All right, Mr. DeRose, are we ready to go into the in camera session?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I will ask the one question right now, in terms of -- we've been given the numbers, what it is going to increase.

Well, let me ask this on the revenue requirement, then.  The numbers that you've just provided us, that it will increase by 45 million for 2010, I take it, then, if we go to Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1 page 4 of 5, table 3?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. DeROSE:  The line item that says "lower ROE," what number would that become?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have that information.  I would have to do the analysis to give you that information.  It is a specific number.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I think -- well, would you be able to -- at Exhibit E1 --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I am going to make an assumption here that it would be the 45 increase less the 9, so...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That would be close enough.

MR. STRUTHERS:  So 36, let's say.

MR. DeROSE:  I think that is probably a fair assumption, but I just wanted that confirmed.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to us going back and rerunning the schedule, I think that is probably a fair number to assume.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, would you go back and run the schedule so that we can see the impacts, at least on the revenue requirement tables?  I think that would be helpful to us.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's take an undertaking for that.

MR. DeROSE:  So I would say to rerun the tables contained in Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1 to show the impact on ROE of the cost of capital report issued December 11th, 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  TO RERUN THE TABLES CONTAINED IN EXHIBIT E1, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1 TO SHOW THE IMPACT ON ROE OF THE COST OF CAPITAL REPORT ISSUED DECEMBER 11, 2009.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  And then I think I am ready to move into in camera.  I would just indicate, just to support what Mr. DeVellis said, the intervenors will meet as a whole on Monday to discuss how to respond, if at all, to this.

I think it will be better for the Board to have the intervenors, if we can, speak with a unified voice after having a thorough discussion --

MS. NOWINA:  Absolutely.

MR. DeROSE:  -- rather than Monday morning having all of us give you our various views, which may or may not be consistent, but we will do it as quickly as we can.

MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. DeRose.  All right, we will move into in camera now and just take a moment to take us off air, and I would ask Staff to ensure that that has actually happened and mark the transcript as in camera.

--- On resuming in camera at 3:21 p.m.

[Page 166, line 15 to Page 189, line 19 have been


redacted.]


--- On resuming public session at 3:59 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  We are no longer in camera.  Mr. Millar, your questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  I see we are at 4 o'clock on Friday, so I will be as brief as I can.  I hope to be less than half an hour, especially with your cooperation.

First, I would like to follow up on some of the questions Mr. DeRose was asking you regarding the indirect costs, and I listened with interest, Mr. Van Dusen.  You gave him a very high-level ballpark estimate of the indirect costs, and, if I heard you correctly, you said they were in the range of $10 to $15 million.  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, you did.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I would like to -- I can't believe this was only yesterday, because it seems like a lifetime ago, but could I ask you to turn up volume 3 of the transcript, if you have it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Page 21.  I think you were probably in the room, and you may recall I was having a discussion within Mr. Curtis and Mr. Graham regarding Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1.  Maybe I will ask Mr. Thiessen to pull that up, if he could, C1, tab 2, schedule 1.  In fact, I was on page 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. MILLAR:  I was asking -- if you look around line 24, towards the bottom of the page, I'm asking him about the development OM&A line and the increase from 8 million to about 22 million in the test years.

I ask him:
"Are you able to tell us how much that increase is related to the Green Energy Plan?"


And then he and I have a bit of an exchange.  Then if you skip all the way forward to page 23, I guess I ask him again, and I say:
"...so would it be fair to say that at least 13 million of the development OM&A budget is related directly to the Green Energy Plan?"

He says, yes, at least 13 million.

And then if you skip to the next page, page 24, at the very top, I ask him about the entire OM&A budget, because you may recall in the text under that chart, you reference that some of the -- that the Green Energy Act is one of the cost drivers for the increase in the OM&A budget.

So I note the fairly significant increases in the budget, and then I ask how much of that is attributable to the Green Energy Act, I guess.

If you look at page 25, line 3, I say:
"Is it fair to say that it is more than 13 million in each of the test years?"

And both Mr. -- I guess Mr. Curtis agrees there.

Now, as I understand it, most of that $13 million -- I guess what I'm getting at is, having read that, I am a little surprised that the indirect costs are only between $10 to $15 million.  It seemed that both Mr. Curtis and Mr. Graham were quite quick to agree that the O&M costs just in this table associated with the Green Energy Act were certainly in excess of $13 million, both for development and the total, although I suppose the total might include some of the increase associated with development.

So I wanted to put that to you, because I was a little bit surprised that the number was as low as you are estimating.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can help you.  I am just trying to find the reference.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  I realize that is a long-winded question.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So I think I can help you.  If I can have you turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, this is the summary of development OM&A, and I am looking at page 2 of 8.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I have it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So I believe -- I believe, when Mr. Curtis and Mr. Graham were responding to you, I think what they were saying is the $10 million of direct costs for smart grid that you see in A-14-2 --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  -- is this $10 million that you see here for smart grid.

So I think what they were saying is obviously there's the direct costs and the indirect costs.  I think they were saying these direct costs are the ten, and then there is the other three associated with the renewable generation.  And that was the 13 they were referring to.

Then you asked them, Are there more costs?  They said, Yes, there are more indirect costs.  And I think I answered the question of, What is that amount?

MR. MILLAR:  And that answer was 10 to 15 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, because it is not just -- if I could go back to C1, tab 2, schedule 1, the table we were looking at, these aren't the only references to increased costs being driven by the Green Energy Act or Green Energy Plan, however we describe it.

You went through asset management earlier and there was a table there.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  There was also -- again, I think some of this may be better for panel 3.  I hadn't intended to go through with you every single time the Green Energy Act is mentioned, but under customer care, I believe there were some cost drivers identified as being related to the Green Energy Plan.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you taken all of that into account in your estimate of $10 to $15 million in indirect costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, but let's be absolutely clear.

What the question I was answering quite specifically are: What are the indirect costs that are still left in our application that are incremental?  There are indirect costs that have been captured through the overhead cap rate and attributed to the Green Energy Plan.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be captured in your revenue requirement request for the two test years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I have specific questions on indirect costs, let's say, for example, related to customer care or what have you, my understanding is I can bring that up with panel 3.  Is that still the case?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am thankful for that, because I wasn't planning on going through all of that, and we would be here longer, if I was.

Just a couple more quick questions in this area.  You would agree with me we're talking about direct and indirect costs, but am I right in assuming that the indirect costs would not be incurred absent the Green Energy Plan; is that a fair statement?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I don't think that is a fair statement.

The indirect costs would not be incurred in absence of the additional workload.  So I guess the way to look at that is the indirect costs are there to support the additional work program.

To the extent that we didn't do Green Energy Plan work, but did other work, then though incremental costs would be there. If, however, you absolutely took out all of the green energy work and said none it is going to get done, then perhaps much of that indirect costs would go away, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think we agree.  I understand that answer, but if I could put it a way -- I think you are basically agreeing with me that at least to the extent that these indirect costs show up in this particular application, they are directly associated -- I shouldn't use the word "direct".

They are associated with the Green Energy Plan and they would not -- you wouldn't be incurring these costs absent the Green Energy Plan, subject to the caveats that you have given me that you might do different work?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to the caveats, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

This is kind of a simple question.  I think it's been asked before, but I am not sure we have a clear answer on it, and that is:  Why didn't you include these indirect costs in the Green Energy Plan, for recovery through the Green Energy Plan?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, the basic premise was that they could not be directly assigned to the green energy work.  They could not be directly attributed to the green energy work.  They were there as a result of additional work.

I think one of the examples that could be given is the processing of additional invoices.  So now we have in accounts payable, in accounts receivable, additional invoices to receive.  Is that a green invoice or a non-green invoice?  How much of that needs to be taken out and attributed, and how would you track that amount?

So there are certain areas that would be very difficult.  In human resources, when a person calls in and says, My employee number, I don't have one, give me a new employee number.  Is that request a green request or non-green request?  It is items like that that made it extremely difficult across most of the areas to make that direct attribution, and we didn't do it for that very good reason.  That was one of the very good reasons we didn't do it.

MR. MILLAR:  No doubt in certain cases it is quite difficult, but, frankly, the company is quite experienced in this sort of allocation exercise, is it not?  Your entire corporate cost allocation exercise, for example, I imagine can be quite difficult in some instances.  There would be grey areas in trying to figure out what should be attributed to transmission and what goes to distribution.  Is that fair to say?

It's not necessarily a pure formula-driven exercise, and the company does this quite routinely, I think.  You have to make certain assumptions.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There is no question that in the cost allocation approach that we use for common costs in terms of attributing them to transmission and distribution, and then to OM&A capital, that now we have a process that we used for a while and we follow that process subject to the review of this Board.

So, yes, we have a process.  But this came upon us very much at the -- in the period near the end, and there was no ability to do that.

And I would argue that it still would be very, very difficult.  You would be making an allocation, a high-level allocation.

So as an example, you reference cost allocation.  We use drivers.  So we use, you know, levels of invoices and revenues and net book values as drivers.

Those are not inappropriate to use, in the sense of trying to get large common costs associated with transmission and distribution.

But now you're making an even further refinement and you are making an allocation upon an allocation.  I guess we just felt we were getting too far down the stream of allocations, and it would be very hard to trace back with any sort of certainty.

MR. MILLAR:  You did it for asset management, though; is that correct?  Index 61?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, we did a high-level estimate -- guesstimate, I would call it -- for asset management.  Yes, we did.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've did a high-level estimate for the overall costs, which you have given us, this 10 to 15 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  But once again, I want to reiterate that I did that under duress over lunch hour.

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  And I recall the word "guesstimate" actually.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Is 10 to 15 million more accurate than zero?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, yes.  Absolutely, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I will move on.  Thank you.

While you have the transcript volume 3 in front of you, I just had a couple of clarification questions I would like to tidy-up with you quickly, if I could.

First at page 114?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Is this the same volume 3, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, volume 3, but this time it's -- it is panel 2.

And there was an exchange between, I think, Mr. Faye and you, Mr. Van Dusen.  If you look at line 12 -- or, pardon, me line 13, you reference a new debt instrument taken out for a five-year term at 3.13 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, what page, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, page 114.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  And line 13.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. MILLAR:  And then you link that to Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 29.  Maybe I will ask Mr. Thiessen to pull that up, if he could, Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 29.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I recall that.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it that this debt instrument you referred to in the transcript replaces one of the debt instruments here?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I just want to ensure that when -- I guess there will be many or perhaps many cost of capital adjustments required, that obviously this will be one of them.  Whatever the impacts are of this debt instrument having both a different term and a different interest rate will be reflected in your final calculations at the cost of capital?  Or will they not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't believe so.  I think I was taken through this -- this question the other day, but that was in absence of the decision we had this morning.  I would have to take a look at that more closely.

But the ROE that gets adjusted, gets adjusted based on other parameters.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes. I am not talking ROE, but the cost of capital includes cost of debt?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't believe we update the full cost of capital.  I believe we just update the ROE.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So the -- in fact, I don't even know what the impacts of this would be.  The term is shorter, though the rate is lower.

You are not proposing to change your -- the debt component of your cost of capital based on -- on this new debt instrument?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, we're not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Just for a matter of clarity, our average debt is roughly 15 years.  Like --


MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. STRUTHERS:  It is made up of a combination of debt instruments.

MR. MILLAR:  I do understand that, and I thank you for the answer.  I understand.

Quickly, still with volume 3, page 96, this was an exchange between Mr. Warren and Mr. Struthers.  And if you look at line 14, Mr. Struthers provides an answer to a question.  He states:

"We have a Memorandum of Agreement with the Province of Ontario dated March of 2008.  I am not sure if we filed this material but it is certainly available on our website."

We actually went to the website to look for that and we couldn't find it, so I am hoping that it could be provided by way of undertaking, if there are no objections.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would be happy to provide it by way of undertaking.  We have just updated our website, such that it is much more customer-friendly and in fact, it's actually customer-focussed, rather than sort of before when it was company-focussed.

As a result of that update, it looks at as if that particular item has dropped off.  So we would be happy to file it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Exhibit -- pardon me, Undertaking J4.5, and that is to provide the Memorandum of Agreement with the Province of Ontario, dated March 2008.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  TO Provide the Memorandum of Agreement with the Province of Ontario, dated March 2008.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Just moving to a new area, now.

MS. NOWINA:  Before you do --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, you caught my interest on the updating the cost of capital in relation to debt.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  And I would like to take an undertaking, Mr. Rogers, of the impact of updating the debt portion of the cost of capital, as well as the other parts.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be undertaking J4.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  TO Provide impact of updating the debt portion of the cost of capital, as well as the other parts.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Shifting gears a little bit, you have heard any number of questions about the magnitude of the increases, and we've been over all of that before.  So I don't propose to go through it in any detail.

Just, I guess, to frame the following questions, though, I would observe -- you would agree with me that the revenue requirement was about 1.028 billion in 2008; is that correct?

That's the Board-approved revenue requirement.  I am taking this from -- it's scattered.  I think you could find it at E-1-1, page 3, or you could take it subject to check.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We will take it subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. STRUTHERS:  It is probably easier than us chasing the page.

MR. MILLAR:  And the proposed revenue requirement for 2011 is 1.264 billion; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And by my math, the increase from 2008 to 2011, if this is approved, would be in the range of 23 percent?  Would you take my math, subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, that sounds in the right range overall.

MR. MILLAR:  And you had an exchange with Mr. Warren regarding a number of letters of comment that have been filed by -- I think they're almost exclusively ratepayers.  You recall that discussion?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And he referenced 140-odd letters.  My understanding is currently we're up around 162 letters; does that sound about right to you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  And he asked you, Mr. Struthers, I believe, if you had read the letters and you answered that you had not.

Can I ask you, Mr. Van Dusen, if you have read the letters?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have.

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Struthers, can I ask -- I know the company has expressed that it is greatly interested in -- or concerned, I guess, is the proper word -- about how these rate increases will be received by ratepayers, and it's something that the company thinks about and considers in its business planning process.

Can I ask why you didn't read the letters?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I have seen some of the letters.  I certainly have not seen all of the letters, and it is certainly not the package in depth that was provided to me.  So I have seen some letters on the subject, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, just on that point, I can inform the Board that vice president Ms. Frank has read all of these letters, as well.

MS. NOWINA:  I am sure she has.

MR. ROGERS:  And responded to them all too, I do believe.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  And I can further add to that that there was actually -- I was actually asked to prepare a briefing note for the chair of the board of directors on the comment letters, and I did so do that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that.  I guess maybe we have cleared up a wrong impression from a discussion that occurred yesterday.

Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 9?  This is Board Staff IR No. 9.

I think this is another document you reviewed with Mr. Warren yesterday.  You will see there is the Hydro One response letter, and just above that, I think around line 31 or so, you state that:

"In cases where specific rate impact information was requested, we provided that information."

Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  So am I right that this letter went out to everyone who sent in a letter of comment, and if they asked for specific rate information, that was provided as well?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But otherwise, it would have been this form -- I will call it a form letter -- as we see it here?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, would you agree with me that this -- Mr. Warren got into this with you -- but this letter largely deals with process issues; is that a fair characterization?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it doesn't actually attempt to address any of the substantive concerns that were raised by the individual ratepayers; would -- would that be fair to say?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The concerns that were raised by our customers, as I indicated, were specifically talked about with senior management and certainly our chair.  As I said, I did a briefing for the chair.

The letter does not specifically address the specific concerns.  The general tone of -- the far majority of the concerns was very straightforward.  It was concerns about, in these difficult economic times, a rate increase of this magnitude should not be considered.

We certainly knew that the focus -- one of the focusses in this hearing would be that very issue and that many of the consumers, although not individually, collectively would be represented by the cross-examination of our evidence and our witnesses in this forum.

We legitimately thought the best place to send these people was to the forum where this would be discussed in a very direct and frank manner.

MR. MILLAR:  I take your point that many of the letters did indeed focus on many of the same issues, and, in fact, Board Staff asked you another IR - I think it was IR No. 8 - which asked -- I think it categorized five or six areas of concern.

The company actually did provide a fairly thorough answer, a two-page answer or something like that, in response to the Board Staff interrogatory.

And I guess I know the answer to this, but you didn't send either that response or anything similar to the ratepayers who wrote letters of comment in?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, we did not.

MR. MILLAR:  Was that a timing issue, or did you not feel it necessary?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can't really say why we didn't follow up with another letter.

Our common course was to send out the letter that we referenced in the other IR response, and then we knew we were on the heels of this proceeding literally weeks after the interrogatories were filed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I am going to move on.  I provided to your counsel yesterday a copy of what is one of my favourite periodicals, and I assume it is yours, as well, Public Utilities Fortnightly.  I am sure I didn't even have to provide you a copy, because it would be on your bed stand.

I propose to mark that as an exhibit, if there are no objections, and provide copies to the Panel.  And this is Exhibit K4.5.  Again, it is an excerpt from a periodical called Public Utilities Fortnightly dated November 2009.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.5:  EXCERPT FROM PUBLIC UTILITIES FORTNIGHTLY, NOVEMBER 2009.

MR. MILLAR:   Do you have that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  You will see at the top it states "Commission Watch, 2009 ROE Survey", and then in bold type "Austerity Savings, Volatile Economic Conditions Push Regulators in New Directions."

What this periodical is doing here, anyways, is reviewing certain recent regulatory decisions from our sister regulatory bodies in the United States.

I am going to refer to a couple of the summaries they provide here.  I will also send copies of the full case to my friend, to the extent he has any interest in discussing them.  They are quite lengthy.  It is over 600 pages, I believe, so I didn't feel it appropriate to print that off.

And, frankly, this is largely a matter for argument, I think, more than anything, but I wanted to give the company the benefit of responding through witnesses if they felt it appropriate.

So can I ask you to turn to the second page, which is actually page 19 of the document?

I would just like to bring to your attention, I suppose, to the extent that you are not aware of it currently, two recent cases in the States, one in Connecticut, the other in New York, I believe.

I am just going to read what it says here.  If you look at the first full paragraph on the left, the left-hand column, starting with the word "Focussing", I will read that to you.  It says:
"Focussing directly on the plight of consumers during the current economic crisis, the DPUC..."

Which I believe is the Connecticut version of the OEB.  It is the Department of Public Utility Control in Connecticut:
"...the DPUC in a second case reduced rates for a natural gas local distribution company by $16.2 million, reflecting an allowed ROE of 9.31 percent.  The department rejected claims by the utility that a rate increase was required due to current economic conditions that had resulted in 15,000 residential service terminations due to non-payment of bills.  Rather than hike rates to cover past due bills, the current economic conditions required the LDC to share in the economic difficulties of Connecticut citizens by aggressively managing its operational expenses and capital investments, the department said.  Driving home this point, the DPUC disallowed, for ratemaking purposes, costs incurred for non-qualified pension funds, finding that ratepayers shouldn't have to fund excessive pension benefits in difficult economic times."

And it provides a citation there.  And then I will just read a short excerpt from the next case, as well.  It follows in the next paragraph:
"In perhaps the most dramatic example of ratemaking meets an economy in crisis, the New York Public Service Commission has in recent cases addressed consumer issues by imposing what it calls an austerity savings adjustment for energy utilities operating in the state.  In those cases, the PSC actually increases the ROE in accordance with the results of financial models, but at the same time took away revenues by adjusting cost of service estimates to reflect the savings expected under mandated austerity savings programs.
"The PSC was careful to explain, however, that if the cost savings weren't found, the utility could petition for a deferral of the costs and possible recovery in a future rate period."

Do you see that?  And maybe you had a chance to read over that last night.  I am not sure.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We see the reference, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As I say, I think this may largely be a matter for argument, but I wanted to put it to the company's witness.  My question simply is:  What do you think of that?  What do you think of the appropriateness of this Board adopting some similar austerity budgets based on tough economic times?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I am going to leave it I guess partly for argument.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.

MR. STRUTHERS:  But I think the issue is it is very difficult for me to talk about these from the point of view -- I am not sure exactly what was going on in the particular rate cases.

I think what we put in front of you is a plan which is based on what we believe is the work that needs to be done.  We believe we understand the customers, and we certainly understand the customers' frustrations with rate increases.  Having said that, we are also mandated to deliver on the Green Energy Plan, and also to take out or carry out the directions of our shareholder.  So...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. STRUTHERS:  To be clear we are doing a lot of the things that have been suggested in here, such as we're not doing travel in any sense of the way we used to do it.  We have put in cost-cutting measures.  We have reduced benefits to the point where we have had -- my friend from PWU is not here, but we have had the PWU launch grievances against us.

We are cutting back in terms of costs.  We are becoming more stern, and obviously we are trying to do more with the money that we have.

There are cost efficiencies that are identified in the plan.  There are some things that we have done over the past few years that are driving better cost efficiencies, and we are focussed on that.  So the answer is, yes, we are very conscious of spending money wisely, and that's what we're trying to do here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I will leave it at that and, if it comes up in argument, then it can be addressed there, as well.

I would like to move on some questions that may in fact not be for this panel.  I am kind of hoping they're not, in fact, but we will see.

They're questions about the performance of your pension fund.  No one else has asked about that, so maybe I have missed something, but I thought that maybe some of these questions might be for you.  But I am happy to take these elsewhere, if...

Are you here to answer questions about the performance of the pension fund?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I recognize it is Friday afternoon.

MR. MILLAR:  But you are?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I can answer probably some high-level questions if you want to pursue this, or there is another panel that can look after it in more detail.

MR. MILLAR:  Let be let me be clear.  If there are questions another panel can answer, I don't want to go over it twice.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Panel 4 can answer the questions.  If it is very high-level ones or sort of how is the pension plan performing, I can probably answer generally how it is performing.

MR. MILLAR:  I am sure you can, but if those questions could also be answered by panel 4, I am happy to leave it to panel 4.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Given it is 4:30 or almost 4:30, I suspect panel 4 might be the better place.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to miss my chance.  That's all I'm worried about.

MR. ROGERS:  I am worried that panel 4 won't know.

MS. NOWINA:  I was wondering the same thing.  Maybe, Mr. Millar, you can give the panel a question or two, and if they're comfortable that panel 4 can answer them, then we will punt them.  But some of these are financial matters that I assume Mr. Struthers might be the expert on, I think.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn up, then, Exhibit A, tab 9?  It is the 2008 annual report.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  And page 72, which I have misplaced here.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just to be clear, you are looking at the 2008 distribution business financial statements?  Is that what you are looking at, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is the Hydro One Annual Report 2008.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I apologize.  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And I am at page 72.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you have it -- Mr. Thiessen is trying to pull it up but I think it's --

MS. NOWINA:  Do you have the reference for it, gentlemen?  If you have it?  Is it attachment 3?

MR. MILLAR:  I have it as part of Exhibit A, tab 9.  I assume it's a --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, we have it as Exhibit A, tab 10, schedule 1.

MS. NOWINA:  Ah.  Uh-huh.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit A, Tab 10, schedule1?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Here we go.

MR. MILLAR:  My mistake.  Mr. Thiessen will eventually get this to page 72, with carpel tunnel syndrome, no doubt.

And I am going to direct your attention to the middle of the page, here.  You see "Change in plan assets"?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And fair value of the plan assets January 1st is 5.1 billion, I assume that is; is that right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the actual return on plan assets is negative 1.12 billion; do you see that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you look down at the fair value of plan assets December 31st, we see 3.836 billion; is that correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So have I got it right that the plan lost about a quarter of its value over 2008?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It lost the difference, yes.  And the explanation is there, so --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it is.

MR. STRUTHERS:  -- you can see for yourself what makes it up.

MR. MILLAR:  But am I right that it lost about 25 percent of its value?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It was invested, as other pension plans were, in equities.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  And therefore, it was impacted by the market.

MR. MILLAR:  But the 25 percent, I am right that it lost about 25 percent of its value?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Roughly.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know or I understand the markets have recovered a little bit over 2009.

MR. STRUTHERS:  They have.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have -- I don't know that I need an exact number -- are you able to give me an idea of what the fair value of the plan assets would be today?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't have an exact number.  It has come back considerably from what it was.  The market is up considerably.

And we are -- have recovered a lot of what we have lost so far, or previously lost.  We have recovered a lot so far this year.  We can certainly give you the current numbers.  That's not a problem.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, why don't I just ask for that?

MS. NOWINA:  Do you can have an undertaking, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Undertaking J4.7, and that is to provide the current fair value of the plan assets.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.7:  To Provide the current fair value of the plan assets.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is in excess of $4 billion, so it has come back a lot.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  More than that, I apologize.  It is back quite a lot.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, and page 4 of 4?  Again, that is C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, which --

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  C1, tab -- it is appendix A.  My apologies.

Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix A.  And there is a four-page document you will see there, and I am looking at the last page.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  It says at line 10:

"The fund has consistently outperformed the benchmark made up of passive market indices."

Then it says:

"In the period from June 29, 2001 to December 31st, 2008, the fund returned 3.62 percent ANR annualized and the fund outperformed its target benchmark return by 0.14 percent."

First, can I ask you what is the benchmark made up of passive market indices?  Could you explain what that is?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I'll give you an attempt.  I certainly will take an undertaking to give you a full description of exactly what that is, if you wish.

But effectively, what we're trying to do is trying to measure our own performance against a similar type of portfolio, not necessarily actively managed.  And so what we're looking at is the performance of the active managers.

MR. MILLAR:  I am worried if I ask you more questions, you will just say more things I don't understand.

[Laughter.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  My apologies.

MR. MILLAR:  No, no, it is not your fault.  It's mine.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Really, what were doing is measuring our performance against a fund similar to ours, similar investments, but if they were just basically invested in against an index, so like a TSX or a -- whatever.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it just measuring against the market?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Measuring components against the market.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe I will leave part of that, but I will move on to the last sentence I see at line 15:

"The fund has a 64th-percentile rank since inception."

And then it says:

"The first percentile is the top performing fund in Canada."

So first I just want to understand if I -- I want to make sure I understand what that means.

64th percentile looked good to me at first, but then when I read the part in parenthesis, I realize tat actually you want to be in the first -- the first percentile would be best; is that correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  You are -- the higher -- the smaller the number, the better performance.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So what this means to me is 63 percent of something -- and we'll get into that -- did better than Hydro One, whereas 34 percent did worse?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So what is this percentile -- what I am struggling with is I don't see how that meshes with your statement that you outperform the benchmark of passive market indices, where this appears to have you a little bit below average.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, what we're talking about is two different benchmarking structures.  So we would be benchmarking ourselves against our own investments.  That was the first -- that is the first one.  So we outperformed and we're actually benchmarking ourselves against our own investments, had they been passively managed.

And by "passively managed," it means the investments are placed in an index or placed with an index and then basically how they run off.

When we have active managers, they are actively managing against an index.  So if they do better than the index then that is a benefit to us, and that's effectively what we pay them for.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. STRUTHERS:  With respect to the benchmarking on the 64th percentile top performing fund in Canada, we're looking at all different types of funds in Canada.  And I should caution you that depending if you had been in, last year, a fund that had no equity investments, and in fact held cash in September of last year, September of 2008, you would have been first percentile.

It happens to be what the mix of the investments are at the time.  While we talk about benchmarking against funds in Canada, it's not necessarily a good measure.  If I was to benchmark my performance this year, it would certainly have improved.  We would be better than, I believe, the 50th percentile.  So it has come up, primarily because of, now, what we're invested in versus what they were invested in.

MR. MILLAR:  And you say since inception.  When is inception?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Inception would have been, I believe, 2001.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So not that long ago?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It hasn't been that long.

And in fact, it may be later than that.  I can certainly get you the right date.  It really had to do with when the Ontario Hydro pension plan was split, and then when those moneys were transferred across to Hydro One to manage.

MR. MILLAR:  No, that's good enough.  Around 2001 is fine.

In this percentile ranking, would pension funds such as OMERS and PSPP be included in that measure?

MR. STRUTHERS:  They would have been.  They didn't do particularly well, either.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And what about the other successor companies to Ontario Hydro?  I know some of them are in PSPP, I think, but to the extent they're measured separately, do you know how -- first, would they be in that ranking?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe some of them were.  I think OPG's is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And do you know how they did?

MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  Not off the top of my head, no.

But they would have been somewhat similar, because they have the same sort of mix in terms of asset liabilities and the same mix in terms of retirees versus current employees.

And it is that mix that drives the mix in terms of assets and liabilities, and hence the performance levels.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to cause trouble for you.  Are you able to give me OPG's ranking if I ask for it by way of undertaking?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We can certainly see if we can find it.  I don't see why we couldn't.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let me ask, then, by way of undertaking, if you could provide the ranking in this percentile basis for OPG, OPMERS and PSPP, if you could.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think we can, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. STRUTHERS:  They're common.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is J4.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.8:  To Provide performance rankings on a percentile basis for Hydro One, OMERS and PNPP pension plans.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I caution you that it is really -- the rankings are really dependent on the asset/liability mix and what people are invested in at any particular time.

So for example, we might do extremely well against somebody else just because of the nature of the investments that we had.  So benchmarking against this type of index, while it is interesting, is not necessarily indicative of the performance of the pension plan.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand that.  But I take it you would agree with me that you would like to improve on the 64 percentile?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We are very conscious of the benchmark, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have some questions about the proposed deferral account for pension expenses.  That strikes me as probably something for panel 4, or not for this panel anyways, Mr. Rogers.  I think this was the high-level stuff.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes, panel 5.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Okay.  One final area.  I hate to ask you to concentrate at this hour, but I have some questions that have been touched on by Mr. DeRose and others, but they're certainly of great interest to staff, and they're largely implementation issues related to the Green Energy Plan and how -- what the Board's approval under various scenarios would -- first, how it would play out, and what it would mean to the company.

So I have four scenarios I would like to put to you to get your comments on.  These are four scenarios that Staff has devised as possible ways the Board might treat the Green Energy Plan for rate-making purposes.

We won't have to look at any documents.  This is kind of a high-level discussion.  Okay, the first scenario I would like to put to you is this.  Scenario 1 would be, I think, essentially for what the company is requesting, and that is that the Board approve the Green Energy Plan in this proceeding and approve the associated revenue requirement into rates.

Now, imagine that the revenue requirement associated with the plan is $100, just to keep our numbers simple.  And assume, if you would, that 70 of those dollars are allocated in January to all of the province's ratepayers with the subsequent panel, and that the other $30 million -- sorry, $30 would be recovered directly from Hydro One's ratepayers.

I think the way this scenario would play out would be that the $30 million would be put directly into Hydro One's rates, and that the $70 million would be -- I guess the Board would direct the IESO to adjust the wholesale market service charge presumably to raise that extra $70 million -- $70.  I wrote it down as $100 million, but I thought maybe there would be some cuts, so it was $100.  It doesn't matter.  One hundred is the...

[Laughter.]

MR. MILLAR:  Regardless, the $70 would be recovered by the IESO, I think through the wholesale market service charge, and then remitted, I guess, or provided to Hydro One, I think, in monthly payments.

Under that scenario, there would be no deferral accounts, no rate adders or rate riders.  It would be baked right into rates.  First, am I correct that that is what the company is seeking?  There would be no true-up after the fact, for example.  The money goes into rates and that's it.

MR. STRUTHERS:  That was how we had filed the rate application.

MR. MILLAR:  That's your filed evidence.  Okay, thank you very much.

And I know the mechanism with the IESO is really more an issue for the IESO and the Board, but does that match your understanding of how that would work - I know you two gentlemen are quite experienced in the industry - that the Board would direct the IESO to raise whatever the amount is, and then it would be handed over to Hydro One by the IESO?

Does that match your expectation?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Obviously, the final decision has been made and it's the subject of some interpretation.  The thing I am struggling with a bit is I'm not 100 percent sure that the $30 we're talking about would necessarily -- I am not too sure whether we set the rate and we charge our customers, or whether the IESO actually says, What was that amount and we'll do it?  I am not too sure how that works.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, we are getting confused here.  It is $70 which goes to the IESO, I think.

MS. NOWINA:  The larger one.

MR. ROGERS:  The larger one.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I know that.

MR. ROGERS:  You said $30.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I know.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me try and clear it up.  The way I presented the scenario was that the $30 million that is allocated directly to Hydro One's ratepayers, I saw that as being built right into the revenue requirement, essentially baked into rates.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's what I was trying to say.  I don't know.  I think so, but I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say you don't know, I am asking if that is what Hydro One is asking for.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is what you're asking for?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So let me move to scenario 2, and this is something that's been touched on by Mr. DeRose and others, but it would look something like this.  The Board approves the Green Energy Plan and associated revenue requirement of $100, and it has the same 70/30 split as in scenario 1.

However, in this case, it creates a variance account to true up actual spending versus the forecast.

Now, just to be clear, there would be no after-the-fact specific prudence review.  It would simply be a review of actuals versus forecast, and there would be a variance account established to track the difference.

That possibility has been floated.  I know Mr. Struthers has spoken about it a little bit.

What is the company's position on that scenario?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Clearly, the company thinks that would be a scenario that would deal with the concerns that have been raised by the intervenors and the Board with respect to whether what we're asking for is too much and cost certainty against it.

MR. MILLAR:  So am I right that that's not your prefiled position, but you are not necessarily opposed to that option?

MR. STRUTHERS:  What we would look for was effectively a rate adder that would be added, and then we'd track it through a variance, look at the actual costs at the end of the day and sort out how to adjust it at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think we are talking about the same thing.  You're not opposed to that approach?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think that probably addresses our concerns, as well as the Board concerns, and mitigates risks for both parties.

MR. MILLAR:  So I just want to explore how this would play out.  Let's imagine the Board approved a scenario like that.  I would like to explore how that might play out.  Let's imagine they approved $100 for rate-making purposes.

You come back whenever, let's say at the next rate application.  It turns out you only spent -- your actuals were $80 million, and let's assume the split is even, so the actual amount should be 60 and 20 as opposed to 70 and 30.

Now, I think on the utility side the calculation is fairly easy.  You simply have a variance account that -- presume $30 million.  Only $20 million was actually spent.  The $10 million just becomes a credit that is returned to ratepayers.  Am I right?  That's how it would work on the utility side?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We would -- clearly, to the extent that we had asked for something and didn't spend the costs against it, we would return it.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So we agree on that.  I guess my question is -- and, again, I know this is more the Board's problem than the IESO's problem, necessarily, than yours, but you are smart folks and I would like to get your views on it.

I am trying to figure out how that would work from the IESO's perspective.  Let me put something to you and see if you agree with it.

I see it working in a largely similar way.  There is a presumption of $70 million spent, so you would recover the 70 -- I do apologize.  I keep mixing millions and not millions, but you know what I mean.

You would recover the $70 in the rate year.  However, there would be some sort of -- I guess what you would have to do is, to the extent there was a $10 million over-recovery on that 70, you would have to return that to the IESO, and then I guess the IESO would either adjust the wholesale market service charge or would simply credit that against your next year's green energy amount?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be my expectation.  It would have some similar mechanism that would hold the parties whole.

MR. MILLAR:  That's kind of how we were thinking of it, as well, but, again, this would be new, obviously, so I wanted to see the company's views on that.

Okay.  So the company doesn't necessarily see a problem with that approach from the point of view of truing up the amounts that are recovered through the IESO?

MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  As I indicated upfront, I think the company's concern is around cash funding associated with the programs.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  So as long as that addresses that issue, then our intent is not to over collect.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let me put a third scenario to you, which I think you will be less amicable to, but let's see.

Let's imagine that the Board reviews the Green Energy Plan in this proceeding and is not satisfied with the level of detail, and does not approve any amount for recovery in the test years.  What it does do, however, is establish a deferral account to allow the company to book any Green Energy Plan expenses for review and possible clearance at a future date.

What do you think of that idea?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, based on our in camera discussion and various other items, I think that would be problematic.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to get into in camera issues.  I think it's a cash flow problem, is that it?

MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, the intent here is to have the cash, to spend the money, to spend the money that properly we are incurring.

MR. MILLAR:  Without some type of funding, whether it be by adder or baked into rates, you would have real trouble undertaking these activities?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think if you look at the corporate program as a whole, that would present a problem.

MR. MILLAR:  We don't have to worry about how the split would work there, obviously, because there would be no split until after the fact.

Okay, a final scenario would look like this.  The Board decides that it's not satisfied with the level of detail in the Green Energy Plan, and it's not prepared to lock in a number into rates.  However, it does recognize that the company is required to hook up various renewable generators and do their smart grid thing, and whatnot.

And it recognizes it needs cash in the test years to do that.  So what it does is it approves what I am calling a rate adder, but I want to be specific about what I mean by a rate adder.  And what that would mean is you would recover the money as you requested; however, there would be an after-the-fact review not just of actuals, but also of the prudence of the expenditures.

And then the Board would make -- would conduct that assessment after the fact and I guess would make whatever adjustments it felt were required.  But, again, just to be clear, the difference between this and scenario 2 is that it's not just a true-up for actuals.  It would be a review of the actual prudence of the expenditures.

What do you think of that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I leave it to the Board obviously to make its own decision.  The problem that it raises is -- and I don't want to get into IFRS at 10 to 5:00 at night, but it presents problems with respect to IFRS recognition.

We would have to put the monies into a regulatory account; the problem that we would run into with a regulatory account is we would have to then look at certainty associated with it.  We would have to take present value of that, taking into consideration the risk associated with it, and book a whole bunch of items that would be impactive on net income.

So my preference is obviously to -- variance with some form of true-up associated on costs incurred.  I leave it, obviously, to the Board.  It is more problematic for us, though.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you have anything to add, Mr. Van Dusen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your patience, gentlemen and Panel and everyone here.

Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Rogers, redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you have any scenarios, Ms. Chaplin?

Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I apologize.

Just on the issue of cost of capital, one thing that wasn't covered by Mr. DeRose's questions were the rate impacts, the percentage rate impacts of the new, I guess, updated cost of capital numbers, and the bill impacts across the customer classes.

And as the intervenors are going to be talking on Monday about this update, those are things that might be relevant to our discussion.

So I just wanted to fit this in here before the panel is dismissed, if this is the panel that should be doing that and providing that sort of information for us on an undertaking basis.  That's all.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  So you are requesting an undertaking of the impact to the Board's policy on the full cost of capital and the rate impacts -- revenue requirement and rate impacts?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  So the percentage rate impact and the total bill impact, for example.  Basically, though, the -- and because part of it will be whether it has an impact on the Board's limits for rate impacts and whether it requires mitigation.  So these are the types of issues that may be raised by the $45 million increase for -- that's being requested for 2010.

MS. NOWINA:  So can we add that to undertaking J4.4, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I am told it is problematic.  At some point in this case, if these costs are to be revised to take into account your new formula, I presume that Mr. Roger, the rate designer, will have to look at the mitigation impacts of that.

So there will be evidence about that in the case at some point.  And I prefer to wait until then, rather than try to do it now.  I am told it is not easy to do.

MS. NOWINA:  No.  I realize that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I raised it because I thought it would be this panel that would address it.

MR. ROGERS:  If think if we can leave it until -- I think I am correct to say Mr. Roger could deal with it is probably better than --

MS. NOWINA:  And that is panel?  Which panel is that>

MR. ROGERS:  Five.

MS. NOWINA:  Five?  It's at the end?  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My only caveat is if that undertaking could get to him now, and have it to us as soon as is reasonable, it is part of our discussion that I would expect.

MS. NOWINA:  I -- it seems unlikely that that could be accomplished in terms of your discussion on Monday.  I guess I am speaking for the --


MR. ROGERS:  I'm told it can't be.

MR. NOWINA:  -- but for you to have it later, in terms of cross-examination, I think is absolutely appropriate.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I ask my -- let me talk to my friend after the break.  I need to -- I am told it is very difficult to do in the way he has asked it.

And maybe there is a way we can do it that doesn't require quite as much effort, that is a little easier to --

MS. NOWINA:  Or at a higher level?

MR. ROGERS:  Higher level or something.

MS. NOWINA:  -- or an estimation of the impacts?  Would that help you, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Anything we can get would be appreciated.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I will leave it to the two of you to discuss and to let me know on Monday morning what you have concluded.  Thank you.

Thank you, panel.  I believe that you can step down.

And we will begin with panel 3 on Monday morning.  We are now adjourned for the weekend.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:54 p.m.
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